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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I'm going

          3  to start this hearing. I am going to read a

          4  statement that our Chair wanted read and then we

          5  will hear from our first witness.

          6                 Good morning, and welcome to this

          7  hearing on Intro. 67-A, which seeks to amend the

          8  Administrative Code of the City of New York and to

          9  amend the Charter of the City of New York, in order

         10  to prohibit the City from doing business with

         11  institutions that engage directly or indirectly in

         12  predatory lending.

         13                 At this hearing the Committee on

         14  Consumer Affairs will also consider Resolution 93-A,

         15  which calls upon the New York State Legislature to

         16  pass legislation regulating high-cost home loans in

         17  order to eliminate predatory lending practices.

         18                 The Chair's name is Philip Reed, and

         19  he, of course, is the Chair of the City Council's

         20  Consumer Affairs Committee.

         21                 At our first hearing on Intro. 67, on

         22  April the 1st, the problem of predatory lending in

         23  the subprime lending market were thoroughly

         24  discussed.

         25                 We heard from people who had
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          2  encountered the problem firsthand, as they tried to

          3  save their homes from foreclosure and get out from

          4  under the loans with predatory terms.

          5                 We also heard from various advocacy

          6  groups, as well as representatives from the banking,

          7  lending and securities industries. Today we are here

          8  to take testimony on Intro. 67-A.

          9                 Over the course of the last month, we

         10  have had many substantive discussions with different

         11  groups regarding predatory lending and the Council's

         12  approach to this issue. These conversations have

         13  been useful, providing insight in self-examination

         14  as Intro. No. 67-A was prepared. Many items have

         15  been discussed, ranging from concerns over the

         16  secondary market to the plight of home-owners facing

         17  a predatory loan to the most effective enforcement

         18  of this proposed law.

         19                 Today, we hope to explore these

         20  issues in more detail, and the specifics of this

         21  Council's approach to predatory lending by not

         22  conducting business with those financial

         23  institutions or their affiliates that do business

         24  directly or indirectly where predatory lending is

         25  analyzed and discussed.
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          2                 The problem of predatory lending is

          3  real, and we are moving this process along today to

          4  try and seek the proper remedy.

          5                 To that end, we are also considering

          6  Resolution 93-A, which calls upon the New York State

          7  Legislature to pass legislation, regulating

          8  high-cost home loans, in order to eliminate

          9  predatory practices.

         10                 This resolution is consistent with

         11  the principles contained in Intro. No. 67-A.

         12                 Intro. 67-A seeks to create

         13  thresholds that deal with points and fees, as well

         14  as the percent threshold above the prevailing yield

         15  on US treasury bonds, combined this initial

         16  threshold with what can be predatory practices,

         17  ranging from balloon payments, to prepayment

         18  penalties, to advance payments to excessive points

         19  and fees. It is the combination of these factors

         20  that constitute a predatory loan.

         21                 Another important part of this bill

         22  is that it focuses on a growing portion of the

         23  subprime industry, the securitization of subprime

         24  loans.

         25                 The securitization of subprime
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          2  mortgages has contributed significantly to the rapid

          3  growth of the subprime market. Securities backed by

          4  subprime mortgages increased from $11 billion in

          5  1994 to $83 billion in '98.

          6                 This is one reason why the subprime

          7  industry has grown so rapidly in the past decade,

          8  and why this bill seeks to address this area.

          9                 The enforcement portion of this bill

         10  is given to the Comptroller, who has the power to

         11  investigate predatory loans, and after a finding is

         12  made, recommend to a City agency to rescind its

         13  contract grant or award with a predatory lender.

         14                 Intro. 67-A also addresses City

         15  deposits and investments with predatory lenders.

         16  These are some of the areas we hope to hear

         17  testimony on today. The intent of this legislation

         18  has not and will not change. This City should not

         19  conduct business with those entities that engage

         20  either directly, or indirectly, with predatory

         21  lenders.

         22                 As a personal remark I'm very happy

         23  to say that we're moving history along and this day

         24  is fortunately here. We have had extensive

         25  conversations and dialogue with the banking
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          2  industries, and I'm glad that many of their

          3  representatives are here today, and as this

          4  testimony moves forward, I believe we're going to

          5  come out with a bill that is in the best interest of

          6  New York City. And as one who lives and is in charge

          7  of, as a Council person, the Council district that

          8  is in the heart of the predatory lending zone, the

          9  proverbial belly of the beast, I'm anxious to find

         10  something that is good for New York City, and

         11  especially good for the constituents of my and all

         12  of my fellow members' communities.

         13                 Having said that, I call upon the

         14  first witness.

         15                 Sir, will you announce who this

         16  witness is.

         17                 COUNCIL STAFF: The Comptroller,

         18  William Thompson.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: As he

         20  steps forward, let me acknowledge my City Council

         21  colleagues, James Davis, James Addabbo, Charles

         22  Barron, John Liu, Oliver Koppell, and the

         23  illustrious Helen Sears.

         24                 Good morning, Mr. Comptroller. Good

         25  to see you.
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          2                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Good morning,

          3  Mr., and I guess in this case, Acting Chairman

          4  Sanders. Good morning. How are you?

          5                 To the members of the City Council,

          6  honorable members of the Consumer Affairs Committee,

          7  good morning. I am here also with Deputy Comptroller

          8  Eduardo Castell, and I appreciate the opportunity to

          9  appear before you today, in support of Intro. 67-A,

         10  the predatory lending legislation.

         11                 Put quite simply, it is time once and

         12  for all to put an end to the abusive practice of

         13  predatory lending.

         14                 It has been around too long,

         15  affecting too many people and too many have suffered

         16  because of predatory lending.

         17                 I commend the City Council for taking

         18  on an issue that, quite frankly, has received much

         19  talk, but not enough action.

         20                 Well, now is the time to act. It is

         21  time for the City to legislate changes that go after

         22  a scrupulous predatory lending practices, without

         23  limiting access to needed credit.

         24                 This hearing is an essential step

         25  towards that end. I think we all recognize that this
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          2  is an ongoing legislative process, as you pointed

          3  out Councilman. And it's ongoing legislative process

          4  that will provide ample opportunity for many

          5  viewpoints and lead ultimately to passage of

          6  legislation that will protect consumers, without

          7  drying up credit or chasing business away from New

          8  York City.

          9                 We've all heard the antidotes, read

         10  the news stories and sometimes have known people

         11  directly affected by this issue of predatory

         12  lending.

         13                 Predatory loans charge more in

         14  interest and fees than is required to cover the

         15  added risk of lending to borrowers with credited

         16  perfections.

         17                 They pack fees and products onto

         18  loans that trap borrowers and lead to increase

         19  indebtedness. Predatory subprime lenders

         20  intentionally exploit the weaknesses in existing

         21  laws and regulations to their benefit.

         22                 In essence, predatory loans exploit

         23  vulnerable borrowers, most of whom research

         24  indicates are elderly, the working poor, women and

         25  people of color. Some of the victims have come to my
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          2  office seeking assistance. One recent case handled

          3  by my Citizen Action Center involved an elderly

          4  couple who refinanced their home to pay for their

          5  son's education, after making payments for four

          6  years, they had not yet touched the principal.

          7                 Through our intervention they were

          8  able to get the loan renegotiated. Unfortunately,

          9  many other victims who can't get help, face

         10  burdensome costs and the fear of losing the roof

         11  over their heads.

         12                 People who have worked hard all their

         13  lives shouldn't have to go through that. But the

         14  subprime market has exploded in recent years.

         15                 According to the Department of

         16  Housing and Urban Development, subprime refinanced

         17  lending increased almost 1,000 percent, from 1993 to

         18  1998. And Wall Street firms have played a prominent

         19  role in that increase.

         20                 A New York Times ABC investigation

         21  documented that from 1995 to 1999, the amount of

         22  money raised on Wall Street for subprime lenders

         23  rose from $10 billion to nearly $80 billion

         24  annually.

         25                 And a surprising fact revealed by
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          2  some studies, including those conducted by Freddie

          3  Mac and Fannie Mae, is that a high percentage of

          4  subprime borrowers, anywhere from 10 to 50 percent,

          5  could qualify for prime loans but were steered to

          6  higher cost loans, subprime loans anyway.

          7                 While high profile action, or

          8  enforcement actions, have been taken against some of

          9  the most notorious offenders of abusive practices,

         10  and some institutions perform due diligence on loans

         11  they securitize, it is clear existing protections

         12  are not enough. We must do more.

         13                 I recognize that Intro. 67-A will not

         14  single handedly correct all the abuses and right all

         15  the wrongs out there. We must continue educating

         16  consumers. At the same time we must close the

         17  loopholes that govern all those who are guilty of

         18  these abuses practices.

         19                 I recommend also that the City

         20  Council enact legislation governing home improvement

         21  contractors that engage in predatory practices.

         22                 We must also encourage, as you are

         23  doing here today, encourage our federal and state

         24  colleagues to strengthen consumer laws that affect

         25  loan originators and mortgage borrowers that prey
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          2  upon unsuspecting borrowers.

          3                 Let me be clear, there is a place in

          4  New York's economy for responsible subprime lending.

          5  These loans, if properly underwritten, and the word

          6  here is properly, provide needed credit to those who

          7  have less than perfect credit histories. No one

          8  wants to shut down the subprime market and Intro.

          9  67-A won't do that, but the City of New York should

         10  not be subsidizing predatory lenders.

         11                 Intro. 67-A attempts to address

         12  predatory lending by going after high interest

         13  residential loans. The legislation creates an annual

         14  percentage rate or APR threshold of five percentage

         15  points above the T bill yield for first lien

         16  mortgages, and fees threshold generally of five to

         17  six percent of the total loan amount.

         18                 For example, that means that the

         19  loans currently, with interest rates above 10

         20  percent, would be scrutinized. These are meaningful

         21  and sensible thresholds.

         22                 For loans above these thresholds, the

         23  bill has 16 characteristics that trigger

         24  identification as a predatory loan.

         25                 The proposal also requires any
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          2  financial institution that receives City financial

          3  aide or does business with the City to certify that

          4  the institution and its affiliates do not engage in

          5  predatory lending.

          6                 The certified statement is made part

          7  of the underlying contract.

          8                 The legislation also targets security

          9  firms that support unscrupulous lenders and middle

         10  men by providing them capital through the purchase

         11  of these loans. Make no mistake about it, this

         12  securitization allows predatory lenders to operate.

         13                 I believe that the due diligence

         14  imposed on the securities firms by the legislation

         15  will allow the secondary market to flourish while

         16  providing proper enforcement.

         17                 The bill places a large enforcement

         18  on the Office of the Comptroller. With your support

         19  and assistance, I believe we will be able to take on

         20  this challenge. It is not an onerous burden for my

         21  office.

         22                 As Comptroller, I am a member of the

         23  Board of Trustees of five separate pension funds --

         24  four pension funds, let me put it that way. With

         25  respect to pension fund investments, the bill
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          2  authorizes me to recommend to the pension boards

          3  whether or not to continue to invest in financial

          4  institutions that are found to be predatory lenders.

          5                 I may make recommendations to those

          6  trustees then decide what the policy will be.

          7                 Note that the Comptroller and the

          8  trustees must act in a manner consistent with their

          9  fiduciary responsibilities, and only after extensive

         10  examination of the issues.

         11                 Regarding City contracts and

         12  financial assistance, the Comptroller forwards his

         13  findings to the City agency that entered the

         14  contract or awarded the financial assistance.

         15                 The City agency determines whether to

         16  rescind the contract, or terminate the financial

         17  assistance.

         18                 The legislation also provides an

         19  opportunity for institutions deemed predatory

         20  lenders to present corrective action plans and

         21  change their practices before punitive action is

         22  taken.

         23                 This prudent provision is in the best

         24  interest of consumers, lending institutions and the

         25  marketplace.
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          2                 Remember, at the end of the day,

          3  abusive lending practices have a profound economic

          4  and social consequence for our senior citizens,

          5  women and people of color, those hard-working New

          6  Yorkers who have saved their whole lives to buy a

          7  home and a piece of the American dream.

          8                 This legislation will help us to

          9  protect that.

         10                 I commend you, Council members, for

         11  your work, and thank you for your time on this

         12  issue.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

         14  you, sir.

         15                 Sir, I'm going to merely ask one

         16  question so my colleagues can get into this.

         17  Everyone is raring to go on this issue. Let me

         18  preface it this way.

         19                 I have had numerous meetings with the

         20  banking and of the other fields involved here, and I

         21  have heard everything that this bill will cause a

         22  meltdown of New York City to just bag business

         23  practices.

         24                 We have requested from the banking

         25  community words, language that they feel will aid
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          2  us, if this is not the language, they give us some

          3  words that will hit the bad guys, if you wish,

          4  without negatively impacting on the good guys.

          5                 To my knowledge, this information has

          6  not been forthcoming. I eagerly await this

          7  information, however, would you be kind enough, sir,

          8  to state for the record, will this bill hurt New

          9  York's ability to work with the banking industry?

         10                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I think that

         11  this bill, and to echo one of your comments also, I

         12  think that my office, and I'm pretty sure that the

         13  State Comptroller also, has asked the industry for

         14  recommendations and language that would weed out

         15  those who engage in predatory practices, while not

         16  doing damage to those who are not involved, or who

         17  wind up doing this inadvertently, and we have not

         18  yet received that language either, and I must admit

         19  it has been disappointing, and we've met with

         20  representatives of the banking industry, and as I

         21  said, we have yet to receive language that would

         22  help those who are good actors or good players but

         23  weed out those who engage in predatory practices

         24  intentionally. As I said, we haven't received that

         25  yet.
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          2                 I think that given the discretion in

          3  this bill, to be able to, number one, first create

          4  certain hurdles that a predatory lender would have

          5  to go over first to be identified as one, and then

          6  given the discretion in the bill that is given to

          7  agencies, but also the Comptroller's Office, to

          8  identify or to be able to bring action against those

          9  who engage in predatory lending, no, I don't believe

         10  that this will create a financial meltdown in the

         11  City of New York. It still will allow for those, as

         12  I said, to be pointed out, as well as if there are

         13  those firms engage inadvertently in predatory

         14  practices, we could work with them on corrective

         15  action.

         16                 I think that, no, this bill will not

         17  dry up or make New York City a financial wasteland

         18  to force firms out of the City. It gives us all,

         19  both the Council, the Comptroller and others, an

         20  opportunity to work with them to correct practices,

         21  and to put in practices that will best serve

         22  individuals, not take advantage of them.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: What

         24  amendments, if any, to Intro. 67-A, would you

         25  recommend, sir?
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          2                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I don't know if

          3  I want to do that right now.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay.

          5                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I think that as

          6  far as amendments or suggestions, I think in working

          7  with members of the City Council kind of behind the

          8  scenes is the way that my office can best serve the

          9  interests of the City.

         10                 Are there amendments and

         11  recommendations? Sure. And we've been working in a

         12  very collaborative fashion with the Council and will

         13  continue to do that, making recommendations.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Again,

         15  thank you for your aid on this.

         16                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Thank you,

         17  Councilman.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:

         19  Councilman Barron.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: First of all,

         21  Mr. Comptroller, I want to thank you very much for

         22  your partnership with the City Council. You have the

         23  tough part of enforcement and regulation, but we

         24  thank you for your courage, and I want to thank you

         25  on behalf of the citizens and community residents of
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          2  East New York, Brownsville, Canarsie, East Flatbush,

          3  where I represent, and we are declaring that a

          4  predatory lending-free zone, so don't even come our

          5  way anymore, we just won't have it. But we thank you

          6  for your enforcement.

          7                 We will be voting on a resolution

          8  today, 93-A, and I just have a couple of questions,

          9  Chair, and then I'll move on.

         10                 But we want the State to also

         11  participate in protecting the residents and

         12  consumers and borrowers of New York City, and engage

         13  in some regulatory practices, as well. And what is

         14  your opinion of that?

         15                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: About a month

         16  ago I was in Albany and spoke to legislators on both

         17  sides, on both the Assembly and the Senate, about

         18  that legislation, and had recommended that that

         19  legislation move.

         20                 The one thing that I would suggest,

         21  it is important that there are different thresholds

         22  in the bills, I think it's important in one form or

         23  another, number one, I commend the Council for

         24  suggesting to the Legislature that they move

         25  legislation. There are a number of things that
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          2  through State legislation and then by pushing the

          3  Banking Department that can be accomplished on this

          4  that we in the City can't do alone.

          5                 The only thing I would suggest, as I

          6  said, I support State legislation, the only thing I

          7  would suggest as far as state and City legislation,

          8  if legislation on the state level is going to move,

          9  that there can be some coordination on some of the

         10  thresholds. I think that's important, at least that

         11  the numbers look alike, that they be identical so

         12  that we don't create separate levels for around the

         13  state, separate levels of what triggers a predatory

         14  loan around the state, but not in New York City or

         15  New York City but not in the rest of the state.

         16                 I would suggest coordination, at

         17  least as far as making sure that those numbers look

         18  alike on both sets of legislation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: The other

         20  question I have, in reference to balloon payments, a

         21  very controversial issue around that. You know, some

         22  of the banking industry said, all right, allow for

         23  balloon payments after a certain amount of time.

         24  Right now it was three, four years, which hurts some

         25  people, helps other people, because you have a lower
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          2  interest rate in the first few years. I think our

          3  bill says seven years. I have problems with that. I

          4  think we should not accept balloon payments,

          5  particularly in light of the fact that I think that

          6  it affects more people negatively than positively.

          7                 What is your position on that?

          8                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I think that

          9  when used negatively balloon payments do damage.

         10                 I think we have to be, as far as

         11  discussion proceeds on this bill, look at where

         12  there are, are there instances where balloon

         13  payments are beneficial, but make sure it is tied

         14  into some of the other thresholds, some of the

         15  other, you know, characteristics of predatory loans.

         16                 I've seen, you know, where certain

         17  balloon payments are definitely there, in fact, to

         18  be able to take someone's home, and that's exactly

         19  what it is there for.

         20                 But at the same point, in others, and

         21  I guess more on the commercial side you've seen

         22  balloon payments that aren't. While this doesn't

         23  target commercial loans, I think you have to be

         24  careful just as far as making sure that you're not

         25  wiping out any positive practice and making sure
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          2  it's tied into the other characteristics that then

          3  makes that loan a predatory one.

          4                 So, I'm not in favor of this. In very

          5  limited cases I think balloon payments can be used

          6  in a beneficial way, but primarily in this

          7  legislation it is looked at, you see balloon

          8  payments which are just there to be able to tie a

          9  family up, to be able to take a senior or a working

         10  class person, take their homes, and that's what we

         11  have to be very careful about allowing balloon

         12  payments in very limited cases.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 And then, finally, is there any

         16  record of the -- I guess I can ask this of the

         17  banking industry.

         18                 Thank you very much for your

         19  testimony.

         20                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Thank you,

         21  Councilman.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

         23  you, Councilman.

         24                 Council Member Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you
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          2  very much, Comptroller, for testifying, and I'm

          3  pleased to hear that you think your office can

          4  handle the enforcement of this bill.

          5                 One of the concerns I have are some

          6  of the thresholds that define a predatory loan, and

          7  under different circumstances, and other speakers

          8  have spoken about this, some of those thresholds may

          9  or may not be reasonable.

         10                 For instance, just as one example,

         11  there's a limit I believe of five points, as a fee,

         12  and in many instances I would think that more than

         13  five points as a fee would in fact be predatory, but

         14  there are perhaps some instances where a large

         15  number of points might be deemed acceptable where

         16  you're stretching out a loan over a long period and

         17  really reducing the interest rate substantially,

         18  someone might say, well, it's okay, I'll pay a few

         19  thousands up front to get this benefit over 30

         20  years.

         21                 And there are other examples of that

         22  in the list of criteria. And what I was wondering

         23  was whether you, and you don't need to answer this

         24  right away, whether a system that would give you

         25  more discretion, or give your office more discretion
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          2  in establishing guidelines, or maybe creating a

          3  board, or using an existing board to set standards,

          4  rather than our freezing them in legislation, might

          5  be a better way to go and I'd like your thoughts on

          6  that.

          7                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I think that

          8  what happens, there are a number of triggers in your

          9  legislation, so it isn't just the points that

         10  trigger predatory loan, it is in conjunction with a

         11  number of other things. So, I, you know, I think

         12  there's enough discretion that's there now, you

         13  know, for the Comptroller's Office to be able to

         14  say, well, it charged more than five points, but

         15  then, again, the loan has to be under a certain

         16  limit, it has to also, as I said, the other triggers

         17  as far as looking at what the percentage is starts

         18  to trigger that also. So, it isn't just the points,

         19  it is a loan that starts to look really in today's

         20  world of, if you are using certain indicators, in

         21  today's world of under seven percent for interest,

         22  it's looking at loans that are in excess of ten

         23  percent, ten, 11 percent, along with points, along

         24  with other things, under $300,000, I think that

         25  starts to trigger the limits as well as the other
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          2  list of characteristics. It isn't just the points.

          3                 And I think that discretion is given

          4  in the legislation that allows once you review, to

          5  be able to say, well it has triggered predatory

          6  characteristics, but in fact, in the end it does not

          7  become a predatory loan.

          8                 So, I think the discretion is there

          9  right now, to be able to say, or inadvertently

         10  certain things were hit in the legislation. So, I'm

         11  not as concerned about that, and I must admit, in

         12  first reading it I was concerned that, oh, wait a

         13  second, you have points that trigger that. It is in

         14  conjunction with other things that trigger that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm glad to

         16  hear that.

         17                 I'd like to echo the Chairman's

         18  comments, by the way, because when I met with the

         19  representatives of the banking, the investment

         20  banking industry, I also said to them exactly what

         21  you did, that is, give us a list of those specific

         22  points that you think are excessive or unreasonable,

         23  and I hope we'll get that. I haven't gotten it yet,

         24  but I only met with them a few days ago. I would say

         25  if they don't give us that, Mr. Chairman, and I hear
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          2  the Comptroller telling me that this is workable, I

          3  can assure you I'll vote for the legislation.

          4                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL: Just if I

          5  may echo the Comptroller's comments on the area of

          6  discretion.

          7                 There is clearly, as he stated,

          8  significant discretion put in the legislation, and

          9  quite wisely so, when it comes to the area of

         10  enforcement. So, you set clear thresholds for

         11  identification and then there's a lot of discretion

         12  when it comes to the area of enforcement.

         13                 On the provision on contracts, we

         14  identify refer to the City agency, there's

         15  discretion on the part of the City agency looking at

         16  the totality of issues impacting those contracts and

         17  those businesses. And when it comes to the area of

         18  investments, the Comptroller still has discretion

         19  whether to recommend.

         20                 So, I think that the wise, prudent

         21  provision of discretion, and of looking at the

         22  totality of issues impacting that business, as well

         23  as that contract of those investments are wisely in

         24  the legislation on the enforcement side.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Though
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          2  you have been announced, sir, would you mind stating

          3  your name for the record.

          4                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL:

          5  Certainly. Eduardo Castell, Deputy Comptroller for

          6  External Relations.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Were you

          8  finished, Council Member Koppell?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council

         11  Member Davis.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Acting Chair.

         14                 As the main sponsor of this

         15  legislation, first of all, we'd like to thank the

         16  Comptroller for speaking and joining us again today.

         17                 I'm just concerned, and being a

         18  former police officer, I don't like predators,

         19  period, you know. And this is predatory lending, and

         20  I'm very concerned that we make sure we hold

         21  predators accountable, people involved in predatory

         22  lending. In your testimony, the part about the

         23  enforcement, does your office, Mr. Comptroller, does

         24  your office have enough resources to properly

         25  monitor and do a fair evaluation of the institutions
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          2  that are practicing predatory lending?

          3                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Right now

          4  probably not. But I mean, it's something that the

          5  structure can be built along with this, I mean, in

          6  conjunction and discussion with the City Council,

          7  and tied into other areas of my office, to help keep

          8  the cost on enforcement, or at least as far as

          9  monitoring and moving forward, to be able to keep

         10  those costs low. So, I don't think it is something

         11  that's onerous that will create a huge bureaucracy.

         12  I think it's something that working along with the

         13  City Council to identify how to implement this

         14  legislation and then looking forward, I think we can

         15  do with reasonably.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, thank

         17  you. And that's what good about your office and this

         18  working relationship that we have, we will work

         19  closely with you to make sure that we hold the

         20  banking institutions that are accountable, to hold

         21  them specifically accountable, because we don't want

         22  to have a rush to judgment, but on the same token,

         23  when we find someone who is responsible, we want to

         24  go after them to the fullest extent of the law, and,

         25  of course, me representing the 35th, Charles Barron
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          2  in his area, representing Crown Heights, Clinton

          3  Hill, Fort Green and Prospect Heights, we will

          4  definitely work closely with you, Mr. Comptroller,

          5  to ensure no predatory lending in the 35th District.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council

          8  Member Addabbo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 Mr. Comptroller, thank you very much

         12  for your time and attention this morning.

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Happy to be

         14  her, Councilman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 I'm of the belief that City residents

         18  deserve protection from the predatory lenders, as

         19  City residents. I think it's an age-old problem that

         20  now is being addressed, which I'm very happy to see.

         21                 But also, the legislation, although

         22  creative and very well done, obviously means very

         23  little without an enforcement, which I'm glad your

         24  office will be ready to enforce it, but also that

         25  the knowledge of this type of legislation is
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          2  distributed out to the residents.

          3                 I think they should know exactly what

          4  is a predatory lender, that there is legislation out

          5  there to help them.

          6                 Can you see your office aiding us,

          7  along with the City Council's help, to distribute

          8  this information to get the information down to the

          9  City residents, that there is help out there for

         10  them and what to look out for in predatory lenders?

         11                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: It's something

         12  that would require, I mean the members of the City

         13  Council, in getting their information out to their

         14  constituents, that the Comptroller in trying to get

         15  information out to, you know, the general public,

         16  Borough Presidents also working along with us and

         17  getting information out, and then finally, I don't

         18  think we can overstate the importance of

         19  community-based organizations and grassroots

         20  organizations, in getting that information out to

         21  their members and to the public at large.

         22                 I think that's the only way. I mean,

         23  primarily, those who have been engaged in predatory

         24  lending have been able to get away with the work

         25  that they've done or with the business they're
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          2  engaged in, primarily because of two things over a

          3  period of time: The fact that people don't

          4  understand what they're entering into, and the fact

          5  that individuals at times are desperate to get a

          6  piece of the American dream or to take care of an

          7  emergency, or to be able to pay for things like

          8  education loans.

          9                 So, I think getting information out,

         10  and then at a certain point, maybe making, you know,

         11  as I said, part of the legislation talks about

         12  counseling of individuals and making sure that

         13  that's done before a loan is closed. I think that's

         14  important also.

         15                 So, a number of things can be done to

         16  be able to limit or eliminate, in the end, predatory

         17  lending. Information, working with organizations

         18  across the City, just to get the word out, and then

         19  the legislation also.

         20                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL: If I may

         21  add to that, the Comptroller's Office currently does

         22  seminars in the communities in partnership and

         23  cooperation with not-for-profit housing groups and

         24  consumer groups. We touch upon issues of housing and

         25  investment and home ownership. Predatory lending is
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          2  an issue that has come up in the past, so we

          3  currently do seminars and public education

          4  throughout the City.

          5                 I would say that with this

          6  legislation, if it's enacted, we would certainly

          7  incorporate the provisions of this law working with

          8  the City Council to expand on those efforts.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: As well as

         12  other city agencies, also, and that should be put in

         13  there too.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

         16  you, Councilman.

         17                 Council Member Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Good morning. Thank you for being

         21  here, it's always great to see you and hear you.

         22                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Always happy to

         23  be here.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You know, just

         25  a short comment and a question.
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          2                 It seems there aren't any problems in

          3  those institutions surviving that do not engage in

          4  predatory practices; am I correct?

          5                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I would say

          6  that given the discretion of this bill, that, no,

          7  that those organizations, those financial

          8  organizations who inadvertently participate, no, I

          9  don't think there's a problem, because we can work

         10  with them to eliminate that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Fine. So, this

         12  scare of a melt-down in New York City, I think I

         13  could kind of just disregard that from my thinking?

         14                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: As I said, I

         15  think that the bill, the way that this is crafted, I

         16  think that we don't have to worry about a meltdown.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         18                 And I think you need the Finance

         19  Committee to get the extra help you need, with the

         20  Council?

         21                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Eventually. I

         22  mean, that would be something we work along with the

         23  City Council on.

         24                 You know, I think that we have a

         25  close relationship and a good working relationship
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          2  with the members of the Council, the leadership of

          3  the Council, to be able to, if legislation moves

          4  forward, to be able to have the resources on the

          5  other side to make sure it is done, and well done.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir, let

          8  me perhaps give you perhaps the last question for

          9  you today.

         10                 Just for the sake of the record, what

         11  do you think of the counseling provision of this

         12  bill?

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I don't see

         14  where counseling is somehow onerous, in fact, or

         15  making sure that individuals, at least the

         16  discussion with them, that they understand what

         17  they're entering into, and the fact of what it's

         18  going to take for them to be able to repay the loan.

         19  I don't find that onerous at all.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:

         21  Gentlemen, on behalf of this Committee, and

         22  especially our chair, who has been relentless in

         23  trying to have dialogue with any and every group

         24  agency and individual that wants to meet on this

         25  one, I want to thank you for coming and testifying
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          2  today.

          3                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Councilman, I

          4  would like to thank you for allowing me to come and

          5  testify this morning.

          6                 And the other thing, for all the

          7  members of the City Council, and the stands and

          8  position taken by the Council, in asking others just

          9  to come forward and make recommendations, as well as

         10  the, and I would say prudent way that you're moving

         11  forward on this, is attempting to get rid of those

         12  who engage in predatory lending while not doing

         13  damage to legitimate and responsible lenders in New

         14  York City is admirable.

         15                 I think this is excellent, the way

         16  that this is being done. And as I said, I wanted to

         17  be on the record, that this is being done prudently,

         18  that those who would engage in scare tactics,

         19  talking about a melt-down, need to read this

         20  legislation, and also understand that this Council

         21  isn't moving hastily, that this is being done over a

         22  period of time and being done responsibly, and if

         23  you're looking to work in collaboration and

         24  cooperation with those who would like to try and

         25  eliminate this practice. So, I would just like to
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          2  point that out, all of those who have raised

          3  questions about the Council somehow moving

          4  recklessly forward on this legislation, that is in

          5  fact not the case. This is being done with the best

          6  interest of the citizens of New York in mind, and at

          7  the same point being done responsibly in

          8  collaboration with those who have businesses, who

          9  are investment banking firms in New York City, those

         10  who do real lending and take care of people

         11  responsibly. So, I would just like to point that out

         12  and congratulate all of you on this legislation and

         13  the way that you're proceeding.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

         16  you, sir.

         17                 To hear perhaps a different view, we

         18  will call upon the Administration of the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 COUNCIL STAFF: We call upon the

         21  Commissioner, Gretchen Dykstra, Kim Hardy and James

         22  Gardella of HPD.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good

         24  morning. Can you introduce yourself, please? And

         25  press that button.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Good

          3  morning. My name is Kim Hardy, I am the Deputy

          4  Commissioner for Development at the Department of

          5  Housing Preservation and Development.

          6                 I welcome the opportunity to address

          7  this Committee regarding Intro. 67.

          8                 Certainly no one at HPD condones or

          9  would do anything to foster predatory lending

         10  practices.

         11                 The victims of predatory lending

         12  often live in the neighborhoods where HPD invests

         13  in.

         14                 We consider lending practices which

         15  prey on the vulnerable and elderly members of

         16  society, especially loathsome. And HPD applauds the

         17  Council's desire to combat predatory lending.

         18                 As the City's agency charged with

         19  both housing and maintenance and fostering the

         20  rehabilitation and new construction of affordable

         21  housing, however, we thought that the potential

         22  implications of Intro. 67 should be brought to this

         23  Committee's attention.

         24                 First, I would like to update you on

         25  HUD's 203K mortgage program. This home mortgage
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          2  scandal has left more than 500 small homes,

          3  tenements, SROs and brownstones in Harlem, Brooklyn

          4  and Queens, facing foreclosure due to the corruption

          5  and fraud rampant in this program.

          6                 Those involved bought properties and

          7  resold them at inflated prices, pocketing the money

          8  that was intended to make necessary repairs.

          9                 At least 16 people have been arrested

         10  so far in connection with this fraud.

         11                 HPD and HUD, I'm pleased to announce,

         12  have reached an agreement of a proposed remedial

         13  plan for approximately 514 buildings in Central

         14  Brooklyn and Harlem, that are likely to be

         15  foreclosed upon by HUD.

         16                 The reason I just bring this to your

         17  attention is because the lending practices that led

         18  to the problems with the HUD scandal really would

         19  not be affected by this legislation, and would have

         20  been possible with this legislation.

         21                 More important, though, that this

         22  bill, if enacted, will derail HPD's remedial plan

         23  which relies heavily on investment by private

         24  lending institutions.

         25                 The financial partnership that HPD
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          2  enters into with banks to build and renovate

          3  apartments throughout New York City, in many of your

          4  districts, through programs such as the

          5  Participation Loan Program, the Home Improvement

          6  Loan Program, the New York City Housing Partnership,

          7  New Homes Program, the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

          8  Program, Neighborhood Redevelopment Program,

          9  Cornerstone and Anger Programs could all be affected

         10  by this legislation.

         11                 Under this bill, if our partner

         12  financial institutions had a subsidiary or an

         13  affiliate that engaged in, or may have engaged in a

         14  set of specified actions, then the principal lending

         15  institution may have to withdraw from providing the

         16  significant investment under these programs which

         17  allows us to build or renovate new homes throughout

         18  the City.

         19                 In the Office of Development alone,

         20  private lending institutions provide over $350

         21  million annually to renew or build affordable homes

         22  and related commercial space.

         23                 These funds would be off limits if

         24  this legislation is enacted.

         25                 HPD has been able to maximize the
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          2  amount of low, moderate and middle-income housing

          3  that we've created in recent years because of our

          4  ability to leverage scarcity resources with

          5  additional funding from private institutions.

          6                 Over the years we have forged

          7  important and productive partnerships with many of

          8  the lending institutions in this City and have built

          9  a large number of new and renovated housing units.

         10                 Last fiscal year alone, with

         11  significant investment by banks, HPD created over

         12  3,000 new units of housing in just the Department of

         13  Development that I'm responsible for and over 12,000

         14  are expected, the agency expects to develop this

         15  year.

         16                 Financial institutions that might be

         17  unwilling to comb their portfolios for compliance of

         18  every bank affiliate might simply withdraw from

         19  housing assistance programs in New York.

         20                 Without the participation of these

         21  banks, HPD's programs would be dramatically reduced.

         22  We estimate that we would be able to complete fewer

         23  than half the projects that we now produce.

         24                 In the future it will probably be

         25  more important than ever for us to be able to
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          2  leverage private investment as City funding becomes

          3  scarcer.

          4                 I would like to take a few minutes to

          5  describe some of the efforts to aid victims of

          6  predatory lending that HPD has begun. In cooperation

          7  with South Brooklyn Legal Services and the Parodneck

          8  Foundation, HPD is using funds from the Senior

          9  Citizens Homeowner Assistance Program, or "SCHAP" as

         10  we refer to it, to refinance loans for victims of

         11  predatory lending.

         12                 This assistance is targeted to

         13  seniors on the brink of foreclosure.

         14                 In addition to he SCHAP effort, one

         15  of our private, not-for-profit partners, the

         16  Neighborhood Housing Services, NHS, is providing a

         17  series of educational programs targeted to help

         18  borrowers in lower income neighborhoods avoid

         19  becoming victims of predatory lending.

         20                 Predatory lending is certainly a

         21  matter of high concern to us., and it is unusual for

         22  HPD to come before you with objections or questions

         23  to legislation that's intended to help low-income

         24  homeowners. But in this case we chose to speak up

         25  because we are concerned that this legislation could
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          2  have the unintended consequences of severely cutting

          3  affordable housing production in this City.

          4                 Predatory lending is a problem of

          5  deception, fraud and criminal behavior, and while we

          6  commend the Council's intent to eliminate predatory

          7  lending, it's unclear to us how the perpetrators of

          8  criminal behavior will be controlled by this

          9  proposed legislation.

         10                 I thank you for giving me the

         11  opportunity to share these views, and would welcome

         12  any questions you may have concerning the testimony.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

         14  you. We will hear from all of the panelists before

         15  we raise questions.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: I just

         17  also would like to introduce Jim Gardella, who is

         18  Assistant Commissioner for Intergovernmental Affairs

         19  from HPD.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good to

         21  see you.

         22                 Good morning, Commissioner, how are

         23  you?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: It's still

         25  morning. Thank you.
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          2                 Thank you for having me, Council

          3  Member Sanders and members of the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee. I'm Gretchen Dykstra, Commissioner of the

          5  Department of Consumer Affairs. And thank you for

          6  the opportunity to testify on the revised version of

          7  Intro. Number 67, which would prohibit the City from

          8  doing business with institutions that engage

          9  directly or indirectly in predatory lending

         10  practices.

         11                 As you know, the DCA has already

         12  identified predatory lending as one of its

         13  programmatic priorities. DCA was concerned about

         14  language in the prior version that would have given

         15  the agency some responsibility for investigating

         16  whether financial institutions complied with

         17  certification requirements.

         18                 We are relieved that in the A version

         19  that enforcement responsibility rests with the

         20  Comptroller in concert with the Banking Commission.

         21                 The DCA believes that this bill, even

         22  as revised, will not stop the practice of predatory

         23  lending at its point of origin. We believe that

         24  should be the goal and we have begun to explore

         25  other approaches that might enable the DCA to
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          2  intervene earlier in the process.

          3                 Specifically, DCA is researching the

          4  option of defining predatory lending as an

          5  unconscionable act under the Consumer Protection

          6  Law. This would give the agency the authority to go

          7  after the originator of the predatory loan at the

          8  point of purchase. We hope to work with the Council

          9  in drafting an approach and to finding specifics.

         10                 DCA believes this victim-based

         11  approach is viable and would not supersede or be

         12  preempted by other laws or pending legislative

         13  approaches, be they at the state or local level.

         14                 There are also landmark rulings by

         15  courts which have held that DCA may exercise

         16  concurrent jurisdiction with other agencies over

         17  certain matters, most particularly matters that are

         18  declared unfair or unconscionable trade practices

         19  under the Consumer Protection Law.

         20                 In addition, my view that there is

         21  need for better or more consumer education has only

         22  intensified in these past weeks.

         23                 Certainly recent reports have shown

         24  that there is a glaring need for expanded and

         25  targeted consumer education. Just last week, the New
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          2  York Times reported that black and Hispanic

          3  home-owners who would qualify for prime mortgages

          4  are instead obtaining subprime loans.

          5                 In 1998 Housing and Urban Development

          6  of subprime lending in New York showed that

          7  home-owners in upper-income black neighborhoods are

          8  over two times more likely than home-owners in

          9  middle-income white neighborhoods to refinance in

         10  the subprime market.

         11                 In addition to working with elected

         12  officials and other City agencies, it is clear that

         13  we, in government, must partner with business, and

         14  non-profits to increase financial literacy.

         15                 There is need for easy to use plain

         16  language information to help consumers understand

         17  that if the loan sounds too good to be true, it is.

         18                 The DCA has been a participant in the

         19  City's Fair Lending Coalition and has worked with

         20  local not-for-profits to develop a list of resources

         21  available to home-owners. We have already met with

         22  the Department of Aging, the AARP, various credit

         23  unions and community-based organizations.

         24                 We have begun discussions with a

         25  major corporation about linking all organizations
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          2  interested in predatory lending technically.

          3                 We, too, are looking at and exploring

          4  the possibility of establishing a victims fund and

          5  we look forward to talking with you more about that.

          6                 In response to the questions

          7  Committee members raised about how the DCA might

          8  target predatory lenders in enforcement sweeps, let

          9  me say that absent the authorization that would be

         10  conferred on us by defining predatory lending as an

         11  unconscionable act, DCA has no direct role in acting

         12  against predatory lenders.

         13                 However, the DCA does police the

         14  activities of home improvement contractors, some of

         15  whom engage in predatory lending practices,

         16  connecting the financing home improvement

         17  construction and we at the agency have begun looking

         18  at the possibility of deploying some of our

         19  inspectors in those 16 neighborhoods where predatory

         20  lending is most rampant.

         21                 In addition, we have also begun to

         22  explore other legislation in other states that would

         23  prohibit home improvement contractors from acting as

         24  agents for predatory lenders.

         25                 I would like to emphasize that Intro.
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          2  67-A that you are considering will not confer on DCA

          3  any enforcement powers that would enable it to

          4  expand its enforcement efforts in this area beyond

          5  what we already do.

          6                 Thank you very much. I'm joined by

          7  Andy Eiler, our Legislative person at DCA.

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Thank

          9  you very much, Commissioner.

         10                 Deputy Commissioner Hardy, you were

         11  kind enough to testify earlier, and you mentioned

         12  some of the things that HPD is doing in the area of

         13  aiding victims and potential victims.

         14                 We have heard from several of the

         15  organizations that you mentioned, and they stated

         16  very similar things, that they didn't have

         17  sufficient funds to address the needs, and one

         18  agency said that at best they were aiding one out of

         19  ten victims of this practice.

         20                 How would you respond? I'll be kind.

         21  I'm in a kind mood. I just want to point out that

         22  only, at best, one out of ten is being helped with

         23  one of the agencies that you name, and all of them

         24  that we have spoken to said similar things.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Thank you
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          2  for sharing that.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

          4  you.

          5                 Council Member Davis.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you.

          7                 Deputy Commissioner Kimberly Hardy,

          8  hi, and welcome.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: How are

         10  you?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: In your

         12  testimony you stated that HPD had been successful at

         13  going after some of the institutions that appear to

         14  be practicing predatory lending, correct?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: I don't

         16  recall stating exactly that. I did say that we fund

         17  at least two organizations that are working to

         18  educate the public about predatory lending.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: All right,

         20  "this home mortgage scandal has left more than 500

         21  smaller homes..."

         22                 "Those involved bought properties and

         23  resold them..."

         24                 "Pocketing the money that was to make

         25  necessary repairs..."
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: I'm sorry.

          3  Yes, that is the 203K.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Yes. So you

          5  have been successful.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: You are

          7  correct, yes. We've been successful with HUD.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: No, I don't

          9  have to be correct, we're all working together.

         10                 Financial institutions, in your

         11  testimony, financial institutions that might be

         12  unwilling to comb their portfolios for compliance of

         13  every bank affiliate might simply withdraw from

         14  housing assisted programs in New York all together.

         15                 It appears that your testimony is

         16  concerned that these banking institutions will leave

         17  and not do business with New York City all together,

         18  and I'd like to state right before the question, I

         19  have had it up to here, not to you personally, with

         20  the Mayor and others, who suggest that if you put an

         21  incinerator in a rich neighborhood the rich will

         22  leave the community. If you raise taxes to keep

         23  schools open, the rich will leave the City. And now

         24  with this provision, this legislation, we're now

         25  concerned that financial institutions, because they
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          2  should comply to help the process, they may withdraw

          3  from housing assistant programs in New York City,

          4  and that's really what upsets me more than anything

          5  else.

          6                 We should not be afraid to go forward

          7  to make this system work. You know, there can be

          8  more than just one agency who has oversight in a

          9  wrongdoing. There's nothing wrong with saying HPD

         10  can look into a situation, the Comptroller's Office

         11  can look into a situation, the Attorney General's

         12  Office can look into a situation to make sure that

         13  we stop predatory lending.

         14                 Last, but not least, you said we

         15  chose to speak up today because Intro. 67 has

         16  unintended consequences which could severely cut

         17  affordable housing production in the City.

         18                 Is there a possibility that Intro. 67

         19  could have positive contributions to affordable

         20  housing in this City in your opinion?

         21                 I mean, you gave the negative side,

         22  but the flipcoin, can Intro. 67 help in any shape or

         23  weight in your estimation?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: We wanted

         25  to raise, you know, the possible negative
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          2  implications on our housing production here and we

          3  hoped, we wanted to just make sure that the Council

          4  was aware there could be negative consequences.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Well, I think,

          6  and this is not an attack on you personally or your

          7  agency, I just would like, the same way we give the

          8  negatives, if you don't have any positives for this

          9  morning, this afternoon?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: No, as I

         11  said in my testimony, I think we do applaud the

         12  Council and this Committee's desire to combat

         13  predatory lending, certainly we're all appalled by

         14  the statistics that we're hearing in these

         15  neighborhoods that HPD so diligently works to build

         16  housing. So, we certainly don't support predatory

         17  lending. We applaud the efforts to try to combat it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: This Council is

         19  committed to working with HPD and other agencies to

         20  stop, so this is not an indictment on you

         21  personally. We're all on the same page, we want to

         22  stop the banking institutions that are guilty, not

         23  the ones that are doing legitimate-based business.

         24                 Thank you so much.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: That's
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          2  good to hear. Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: As my

          4  last act as Chair, I would like to relinquish, the

          5  coo has been overturned and the real chair of the

          6  Consumer Affairs is here today, Council Member

          7  Philip Reed.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Sanders. I'm sure you did an excellent job,

         10  and I apologize for being unavoidably delayed. I

         11  know we're all trying to get through this important

         12  issue, so thank my committee and those that are

         13  here.

         14                 Council Member Koppell, you have

         15  questions?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         17  welcome. I'm glad you're here. And, indeed,

         18  Councilman Sanders did a fine job of chairing, I

         19  might say.

         20                 Quite honestly, Commissioner Hardy,

         21  and I don't blame you personally, please don't take

         22  this personally, but I am shocked, quite frankly

         23  shocked, at the testimony you gave. And I'll allow

         24  you to respond, but at the end of your testimony you

         25  say "predatory lending is a problem of deception,
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          2  fraud and criminal behavior." And then you make

          3  mention in that same paragraph that predatory

          4  lenders are "perpetrators of this criminal

          5  behavior," and then the thrust of your testimony is

          6  the City doesn't do business with people who engage

          7  in this or who are financed, or who are financing, I

          8  should say, with this behavior, we won't be able to

          9  rehabilitate the housing, especially the 203 fraud

         10  housing.

         11                 Well, I can say this, if the City has

         12  to do business with crooks in order to finance

         13  housing, don't finance housing. It is shocking to

         14  say we have to do business with crooks in order to

         15  do a City service.

         16                 I would urge that this statement be

         17  withdrawn because it is a shocking statement. I

         18  cannot believe this is the policy of the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 There are plenty of crooks out there

         21  who might be willing to do business with the City

         22  and help you out, but I don't think you would want

         23  to do business with them, and I don't think you

         24  should say, in essence, that you are.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: May I
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          2  respond?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Please.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Council

          5  Member Koppell, I believe the intention of my

          6  testimony was just really to raise questions that we

          7  at the agency had as to how the legislation could

          8  impact on our housing production, and I guess our

          9  concern is, in terms of working with some of the

         10  financial institutions that we do that are all very

         11  well known to us, that it's just -- we would be

         12  unable to track, and we're just concerned that to

         13  track the holding company organizations of these

         14  banks, and we are concerned that for a mortgage

         15  company in Texas might, you know, prevent affordable

         16  housing in Fort Green or East New York, and

         17  certainly we don't intend to do business with crooks

         18  and we have other guidelines in place with regard to

         19  how we deal with developers, but we just want to

         20  make sure that all of the questions are explored.

         21  So, I certainly agree with your comments, in terms

         22  of not doing business with crooks, but that was not

         23  the point of the testimony. The point was really

         24  just to raise the question and make sure that we

         25  explore all the issues.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, right

          3  now, as you know, for instance, the City has in its

          4  contract the provision that no company with whom

          5  they do business should be doing business in Burma.

          6  That's an example.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Exactly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Why isn't the

          9  provision, as long as it's reasonable, and I go

         10  along with making these provisions reasonable, but

         11  as long as it's reasonable, and we agree that

         12  predatory lending is a criminal, or borders on

         13  criminality, and is certainly deceptive, and

         14  unwelcome, if we can write a reasonable provision,

         15  why shouldn't we be able to say the City won't do

         16  business with people who do this kind of predatory

         17  lending, and you may lose somebody who would provide

         18  you with financing but I would hope that there would

         19  be some honorable people around that you could still

         20  do business with.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: I see. If

         22  this legislation is passed, our Department will

         23  obviously abide by it. So, I guess that's really the

         24  answer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Barron.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, I think

          5  my colleagues, Council Member Davis and Council

          6  Member Koppell, really said what I wanted to say, it

          7  was appalling, your testimony, and your response to

          8  them was not adequate. I suggest that you read our

          9  bill again more thoroughly, and you will see that

         10  any lending agency that is honorable, that is

         11  credible, that has no intentions of doing anything

         12  wrong to our people, should not be afraid of this

         13  bill to harm them.

         14                 So, I really think you need to reread

         15  it, and the agency needs to go over it again. It

         16  protects consumers, it doesn't hurt honest lenders,

         17  and your testimony was quite shocking and I agree

         18  with my colleagues, and since they said it so well,

         19  I could be a nice guy today and not always be the

         20  bad guy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         22                 Council Member Liu.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I don't want to

         24  be a bad guy either. And I do agree with my

         25  colleagues that this testimony that you presented
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          2  today, and it's not, of course it's not you

          3  personally, but the agency produced today, I think

          4  falls short of what we would have expected from the

          5  agency.

          6                 I think part of what you're saying is

          7  that if we enact this bill, there are perhaps even

          8  people who don't engage in this practice, they would

          9  hesitate to continue to provide these kinds of loans

         10  and participate in these very beneficial programs

         11  that you cite. Do you have any proof of that, apart

         12  from the lenders coming from the Administration

         13  saying that we would have second thoughts about

         14  participating in these programs if you were to

         15  enact, or if you were to allow this bill to become

         16  law?

         17                 What kind of evidence is there that

         18  we would lose lenders?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GARDELLA:

         20  James Gardella, Assistant Commissioner, HPD.

         21                 I've listened to the comments on our

         22  testimony, and perhaps the artfulness, or maybe the

         23  message that we're trying to get across was not a

         24  message that we succeeded in getting across.

         25                 I think if maybe we could step back
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          2  from the testimony and get a little more

          3  philosophical here, we're probably expressing our

          4  concerns about the liquidity of money. I never, in

          5  all the times I've come before the Council, I never

          6  give a personal example, because what do you care

          7  about my, you know -- but I don't know, I took out

          8  my home mortgage with a bank in Councilman Davis'

          9  district, and, you know, a few years past and the

         10  next thing I knew I was paying it to a bank on the

         11  Stemmens Expressway in Dallas, they may be highly

         12  reputable, honorable people, I never had any trouble

         13  with them, but the liquidity and the tracking of

         14  money and the tracking of partnerships and

         15  affiliations and subsidiaries, and there's a wide

         16  number of terms in the bill that we saw, that we

         17  felt was beyond the ability of us to do for

         18  something that was in such a liquid and a fluid

         19  situation, and maybe, as we pointed out on the

         20  testimony, beyond the willingness of the prime banks

         21  that we do business with to create our housing

         22  production of affordable units in the City, to

         23  monitor or wish to monitor.

         24                 And is there proof of that? No.

         25  Because, frankly, I don't believe we have anything
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          2  in place like this anywhere, so I guess I'd ask it

          3  the other way. Do other cities, do our other housing

          4  agencies that provide affordable housing in other

          5  cities, are they enforcing a bill like this, and

          6  what has been the effect on the housing production

          7  of affordable units in those cities.

          8                 I mean, if this is our job, we would

          9  like to know that and we would obviously investigate

         10  if such a piece of legislation exists elsewhere.

         11  We're unsure, but we're certainly willing to learn

         12  that and to work with the Council.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, I think

         14  we're asking the Comptroller of the City of New York

         15  to provide most of the enforcement -- I'm sorry --

         16  of the City of New York to provide most of the

         17  enforcement related to this bill. I think what I'm

         18  hearing, a major tenet of your argument is that it's

         19  too difficult for one company who is acquiring loans

         20  to vouch for what the originator did, and this may

         21  go through many cycles. But the fact of the matter

         22  is that before company B would acquire any loans

         23  from company A, they would do a great deal of work

         24  as it stands. To determine the value of those loans

         25  that were originated.
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          2                 And the criteria that this bill sets

          3  forth, I don't think, are that much more onerous to

          4  track.

          5                 There are other kinds of loans out

          6  there that are acquired and must meet certain kinds

          7  of criteria, not very different from the criteria

          8  set forth in this bill.

          9                 So, I'm not sure I would agree with

         10  you that it would be so difficult that we have such

         11  a fluid situation where companies are simply

         12  acquiring loans from one company and not doing a

         13  great deal of work when they make those

         14  acquisitions.

         15                 I think that when your home loan was

         16  acquired, that there wasn't a lot of work done, in

         17  addition to the already relatively restricted

         18  provisions that your home loan was subject to to

         19  begin with.

         20                 So, I'm sure we'll hear from the

         21  banking industry also, but I don't really see where

         22  -- I don't really see where there is such a fluid

         23  situation, a lack of control or a lack of

         24  willingness by businesses who do a great deal of

         25  business with the City, to follow these provisions,
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          2  I don't -- I mean, this is a piece of regulation and

          3  it does -- there is some cost of compliance

          4  associated with this regulation. We're simply saying

          5  as the City Council, that if you want to do business

          6  with the City of New York, which I would imagine is

          7  profitable, that you, as a business, be subject to

          8  the small, I would think it's small, amount of

          9  additional regulatory cost that's associated with

         10  this bill. I don't think it's unreasonable.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

         13  Member Liu.

         14                 Council Member Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Two brief questions, one for Deputy

         18  Commissioner Hardy, and one for Commissioner

         19  Dykstra.

         20                 In this scandal with HUD, and that is

         21  related to HUD, but HPD was in working relationship

         22  with them, what kind of mechanisms do you have in

         23  place that look up and follow, since the agency does

         24  seem to do business with those that in some cases,

         25  you know, there's a law against usurious practices,
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          2  and it's government's responsibility in a private

          3  enterprise to protect it's people, and it seems that

          4  HPD has been engaging in some practices that are

          5  very loose, to say the least, and what mechanisms do

          6  you have in place that feel that you protect those

          7  who are having these loans and those who are lending

          8  the money in rather precarious ways?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Council

         10  Member Sears, first of all, I just want to emphasize

         11  that our agency had no dealings with the 203K

         12  properties before that --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

         14  that.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: -- But has

         16  stepped in to help work out a remedial plan for

         17  them. And with respect to, I guess we have several

         18  loans that we offer to the citizens of New York --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm familiar

         20  with some of those loans.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Right.

         22  Those loans are usually below prime, usually below

         23  three percent. Sometimes they're blended with

         24  private bank money.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And they work
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          2  very well.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's why I'm

          5  very confused as to why it's necessary to advocate

          6  for some practices and from some lending

          7  institutions, rather than saying predatory, to me

          8  they're usurious and in most cases that's against

          9  the law.

         10                 So, this predatory bill is basically

         11  protecting and dealing with what should be right for

         12  people. Why is it necessary for you, for the agency,

         13  not you personally, to seek these institutions that

         14  will assist either in rehabbing, remodeling, or

         15  whatever gets done with these buildings?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Well, if I

         17  may, if I could address just your first question in

         18  terms of what the agency has in place, because I

         19  mentioned --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: -- You

         22  seem familiar with the loans that we offer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I am.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Also with

         25  regard to some of our home ownership projects, that
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          2  we typically work with lenders that I think all the

          3  Council members are familiar with, that will often

          4  offer prime or below prime favorable rates to home

          5  owners purchasing homes. So, most of the home owners

          6  to our knowledge use the loans that the agency and

          7  the non-profits we work with, such as the New York

          8  City Housing Partnership, the loans that are

          9  arranged through lenders that work through our

         10  offices.

         11                 I guess I want to make clear that the

         12  agency is certainly not advocating for predatory

         13  lending.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You know what -

         15  I think this Committee understands that. While you

         16  are not advocating for it, you are also suggesting

         17  that if this were to be enacted it would hamper

         18  enormously the progression of the City engaging in

         19  the development of housing. So, to me it seems like

         20  it's a conflict because that means that if we did

         21  that we would be eliminating a practice of the

         22  agency that would hinder you enormously, and it is

         23  that practice that really is in question.

         24                 And I would agree with my colleagues,

         25  I think your agency needs to go back and look at the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  legislation, and certainly any suggestions that your

          3  agency may have, I feel confident our chair would

          4  welcome.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Thank you.

          6  We would very much like to work with the Council to

          7  help combat predatory lending.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think that

          9  your agency needs to do that, because there's some

         10  conflicting testimony, and I think you need to be on

         11  course and be very direct with the fact that you're

         12  promoting good housing, but you're also looking at

         13  the best interests of our citizens and the

         14  contradiction, you're not doing that.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 For Commissioner Dykstra: In your

         17  testimony you stated that if you were empowered and

         18  were given the authority to do what is suggested in

         19  this bill, you would be able to do that; how do you

         20  propose doing that? Because I do not believe your

         21  agency is extremely well funded to do all that you

         22  want to do. I know that Consumer Affairs has a lot

         23  to handle and I know that, and you are operating

         24  within the confines of a very limited budget and

         25  limited staff, but a very good staff, without
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          2  question.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: We are in the

          4  process of taking a look at what it would cost if

          5  there are additional costs attached to it, but we,

          6  just to refresh people's memories, Consumer Affairs

          7  takes consumer complaints, so we're beginning, for

          8  instance, to build into our operators'

          9  conversations, when we get them, about home

         10  improvement contracts, to try and get information,

         11  we're trying to collect data, so I think some of

         12  what we can do is about doing what we do do better.

         13  Our inspectors, as I said, I think if we deploy them

         14  differently we don't need more inspectors, we just

         15  need smarter deployment strategies, looking at the

         16  neighborhoods where we know this is happening.

         17                 Our legal staff, of which we have ten

         18  lawyers in the Legal Division, not counting our

         19  administrative judges, there are several people who

         20  are well equipped to work on the HIC's, and, in

         21  fact, I think we can keep up with that. And, again,

         22  if that's our entry point, I have no fear that we

         23  couldn't.

         24                 If it's defined as unconscionable, we

         25  perhaps would have to take a look at the proportion
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          2  between staff, and we are in the process of doing

          3  that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. So,

          5  perhaps you need to develop a proposed or an

          6  estimated budget before wanting to assume additional

          7  responsibilities?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Well, we're

          9  first actually even looking at whether or not it

         10  would be possible for us to assume those extra

         11  responsibilities, and we're having good meetings

         12  with Corp Counsel.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because your

         14  testimony is asking for those responsibilities, if I

         15  read you right.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes. Well, we

         17  think that --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think you're

         19  putting the cart before the horse. I think that you

         20  need to look at just what that cost is, whether your

         21  agency can do that, and then ask us to reconsider.

         22  Because the Comptroller has also said that he would

         23  have an enforcement policy, and with his existing

         24  staff, he would be able to enforce.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Well, I can
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          2  assure you that when we have a bill, we will attach

          3  to it estimated costs.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you all very

          6  much for coming.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thank you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARDY: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We have some

         10  business -- thank you -- the Committee does, and

         11  some of our members have to do other things. So,

         12  while our esteemed Borough President of the Bronx

         13  prepares to come and testify, I'd like to ask the

         14  clerk to help us in taking a vote and call the roll

         15  -- thank you -- on resolution 93-A.

         16                 This is a resolution calling upon the

         17  New York State Legislature to pass legislation

         18  regulating high cost of home loans in order to

         19  eliminate predatory lending.

         20                 Really this is just a support piece

         21  of legislation, but I think important, because

         22  perhaps as has been discussed this morning, there is

         23  legislation in Albany. We want to let people know

         24  that we are supportive of what it is that they are

         25  trying to do there.
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          2                 So, without further ado, I'd like to

          3  call the roll on resolution, unless there are any

          4  questions that my colleagues have, I'd like to call

          5  the roll on Resolution 93-A.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Davis.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

         21  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         22  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         23                 Please sign the reports.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Sears, would you like
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          2  to express your support?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Oh, I want to

          4  say thank you very much to the Chair and to this

          5  Committee for passing this resolution.

          6                 As you know, it's Councilman Comrie

          7  and myself, and the speaker, and several other

          8  Council Members that have put this forward, so we

          9  really thank you and appreciate your support.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 I don't know if the Borough President

         13  of the Bronx has been here to see us before in his

         14  official capacity? That's by way of a question.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Oh.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Have you had a

         17  chance to testify?

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Good

         19  morning, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I've stopped by, but not in this

         21  official capacity to provide direct testimony. It's

         22  good to be back home.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So this is your

         24  first opportunity for direct testimony?

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:
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          2  Personally. I have sent staff.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see, okay. Well,

          4  I want to take the opportunity to formally welcome

          5  you here in that capacity and to let my colleagues

          6  know that I taught him everything he knows, and then

          7  he left me, what could I tell you.

          8                 I used to sit in the back row there

          9  and it was always a pleasure to work with Adolfo,

         10  he's a classy guy. So, I'm looking forward to

         11  hearing what you have to say today, Mr. Borough

         12  President.

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman. And thank you for accommodating me in

         15  your busy testimony schedule, and thank you, to the

         16  members of the Committee. I know that we are all

         17  under the tyrrany of the clock, and somehow the

         18  clock has become much more tyranical in my life, as

         19  Borough President, but it's good to be back home,

         20  and in this wonderful chamber where the City's great

         21  work happens.

         22                 I'm going to offer some comments.

         23  They're going to be broad comments, and an opinion

         24  about which way we should be thinking about this,

         25  and, unfortunately, I'm going to have to dash out
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          2  and not engage in a back and forth, which I really

          3  enjoy.

          4                 But I look forward to working with

          5  you on the legislation, and coming back and talking

          6  on the phone and whatever other ways we can do that.

          7                 Chairman Reed and members of the

          8  Consumer Affairs Committee of the City Council and

          9  the public that often watches on Crosswalks, those

         10  of you who are here today in the Council Chambers,

         11  as you know, my name is Adolfo Carrion, I'm the

         12  President of the Borough of the Bronx.

         13                 I look forward to working with this

         14  Council, and as an alumnus of this body I want to

         15  congratulate you, Chairman Reed, Speaker Miller and

         16  the Committee for your efforts to seriously address

         17  the problems associated with predatory lending.

         18                 The Bronx has a unique history that

         19  must be told of a once thriving borough of strong

         20  neighborhoods good schools, active industrial areas

         21  that employed hundreds of thousands of local

         22  residents and families that live for generations in

         23  the same neighborhoods or just a few blocks away.

         24                 But then the banks and insurance

         25  companies began to red line many neighborhoods,
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          2  making it impossible for our residents to obtain

          3  legitimate mortgage loans or to refinance when the

          4  market allowed them to do so.

          5                 Many residents turned to the only

          6  source of loans through institutions that charged

          7  far above prime rates or to family members and

          8  friends.

          9                 In the Bronx, we have a population

         10  which exceeds 1.3 million people of which 22 percent

         11  are homeowners. Many of these families have worked

         12  very hard to save money to buy a house, often

         13  holding down two jobs in order to afford the down

         14  payment and pay the mortgage costs.

         15                 Our population is more than 80

         16  percent Latino and African-American, and according

         17  to ACORN's research, greater than 50 percent of the

         18  refinancing loans were made to African-American

         19  home-owners and greater than 35 percent of the loans

         20  were made to Latino home-owners. Therefore, the

         21  Bronx has been a natural target for unscrupulous

         22  subprime lenders.

         23                 Another target has been our senior

         24  population. Many have been denied an opportunity to

         25  enjoy their lives in peace due to the necessity of
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          2  financing excessive fees and points or refinancing a

          3  loan which doesn't benefit the home-owner.

          4                 A recent press release produced by

          5  ACORN notes that borrowers 65 and older are three

          6  times as likely to hold a subprime mortgage. So much

          7  has changed in the Bronx in the past 15 years,

          8  though.

          9                 Our housing stock has been

         10  substantially rebuilt, forgotten neighborhoods have

         11  been revived, our population which was fleeing has

         12  not just stabilized, but grown more than ten percent

         13  according to the recent census.

         14                 We are a borough of people on the

         15  rise and with a memory of what forces contributed to

         16  our decline, as well as those of us who supported us

         17  in our recovery.

         18                 Banking institutions have used the

         19  tools we gave them, such as the community

         20  reinvestment act to find ways to supplement economic

         21  growth and development loan to small businesses and

         22  housing development.

         23                 Predatory lending exists side-by-side

         24  with the legitimate efforts to provide loans to our

         25  communities. We need to attack predatory lending
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          2  directly, not indirectly.

          3                 We have a lot further to go with

          4  insurance companies and the banks to guarantee a

          5  regular flow of funds to our neighborhoods, though

          6  they have been less onerous than before, and we

          7  know, just parenthetically, that insurance companies

          8  by default are the underwriters. We must continue to

          9  pressure these institutions to support the ongoing

         10  economic development expansion that provides jobs to

         11  our residents. They want our support to perpetuate

         12  growth and we want them to engage in the regulation

         13  of companies within their ranks.

         14                 It is time to challenge the

         15  regulatory and enforcement agencies that have

         16  jurisdiction over banking and insurance in our City.

         17                 These agencies sat quietly while our

         18  neighborhoods were redlined and we challenge them to

         19  eradicate predatory lending that thrive while these

         20  same institutions neglected to deal with the

         21  problem.

         22                 Their job is to regulate, and the

         23  regulators charged with this responsibility are not

         24  acting, totally misconstruing their functions in our

         25  government.
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          2                 I want to acknowledge the efforts of

          3  the Attorneys General of several states that

          4  recently settled a lawsuit that won $60 million for

          5  18,000 victims, including 2,000 right here in New

          6  York City, in an action against First Alliance

          7  Mortgage. Also, I believe that with ACORN, AARP and

          8  the Federal Trade Commission working together, we

          9  can address this serious problem and eliminate

         10  predatory lending.

         11                 Now is the time to root out the

         12  predatory lenders in our City.

         13                 Mr. Chairman, we can support a

         14  predatory lending bill that has these elements

         15  incorporated within, and I look forward to working

         16  with the Committee on such a bill.

         17                 Thank you very much. Thank you for

         18  the opportunity.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Borough President. I appreciate it.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Sorry I

         22  have to run.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's all right.

         24  Good to see you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The Borough

          4  President, who I welcome here as well, has called a

          5  meeting of the Bronx Council Delegation that he's

          6  running to, and if I don't go along I'll be in

          7  default, so unfortunately I'll have to leave the

          8  hearing at this time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right. Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I look

         12  forward to working with you on the provisions of the

         13  bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right, you will

         15  protect my interest in the Bronx. Thank you.

         16                 Next on the panel I'd like to call up

         17  Sarah Ludwig, Josh Zinner, and Beth Finkel. Are all

         18  those people here?

         19                 Good afternoon. I'm not sure you all

         20  have a particular direction you want to go. Ms.

         21  Ludwig, did you want to speak first, or what's your

         22  pleasure at the table there?

         23                 MS. LUDWIG: Thank you. Beth Finkel

         24  from AARP I understand has to leave, so we brought

         25  her up here with us so she can make her statement.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Ms. Finkel, why

          3  don't you go ahead.

          4                 MS. FINKEL: Good afternoon,

          5  Chairperson Reed, and the Council members. Thank you

          6  very much for allowing me to testify today and I

          7  want to start off by commending you all for taking

          8  this issue up and taking it up so conscientiously.

          9                 My name is Beth Finkel. I'm Associate

         10  State Director for AARP, New York State. We have two

         11  and a half million members across the state and

         12  predatory lending is our number one state

         13  legislative issue.

         14                 So, we're very excited that you are

         15  going to be taking up Resolution 93-A, it's just so

         16  important to us and where our priorities are going

         17  in the state.

         18                 Right now we're not taking any

         19  position on the municipal legislation. We're very

         20  helpful that we're going to be moving forward on the

         21  State level. If, however, we are not able to get

         22  strong legislation on the State level, then we will

         23  be looking at municipal legislation opportunities.

         24                 So, with that, again, I really want

         25  to thank you for raising awareness and consciousness
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          2  of people in New York City.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 MS. LUDWIG: Good afternoon. I want to

          7  thank you for the opportunity to testify on Intro.

          8  Number 67-A and particularly Consumer Affairs

          9  Committee Chairman Reed and the fellow Council

         10  Members, I want to thank you so much, as well as

         11  your exceptionally talented staff, who we've come to

         12  know over the last few weeks, John Graham and David

         13  Suchman, who have made an impression on many of us

         14  in the field for their diligence and

         15  even-handedness.

         16                 I represent the Neighborhood Economic

         17  Development Advocacy Project, which is a Citywide

         18  resource center for community groups that are based

         19  in low-income neighborhoods and communities of

         20  color, and our mission is to provide legal,

         21  technical, strategic and policy support to community

         22  groups that are organizing around financial justice,

         23  fair access to credit, community reinvestment, and

         24  related issues. So, as you can imagine, we have been

         25  working on the issue of predatory lending now for
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          2  many years because it affects so many of the

          3  communities in which the groups we work with are

          4  based, and has presented such a huge problem, not

          5  only for their residents, but for their entire

          6  neighborhoods which have had a destabilizing affect

          7  from predatory lending.

          8                 Our organization also convenes a

          9  statewide coalition, New Yorkers for Responsible

         10  Lending.

         11                 Many of the groups that are

         12  testifying today and that have testified last month,

         13  are members of the Statewide Coalition, and I can

         14  say unequivocally that the City ordinance to many of

         15  us really underscores the strong need we have in New

         16  York State for meaningful anti-predatory lending

         17  legislation such as now that's pending before the

         18  senate. So, I was very heartened to witness your

         19  vote on Resolution 93-A and the unanimous nature of

         20  that vote which we very much supported and want to

         21  thank you for that.

         22                 So, I guess for just starters, as a

         23  threshold issue, I've been racking my brain because

         24  I can't imagine anyone disagreeing with your

         25  ordinance, which follows the spirit that the City
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          2  should not be doing business with financial

          3  institutions that are known to be engaging in

          4  predatory lending practices. It seems pretty

          5  straightforward to me.

          6                 But what is also clear to us, having

          7  researched the issue of predatory lending, is that

          8  the industry itself is not so straightforward. And,

          9  so I was hoping today very, very briefly, to talk

         10  about the nature of predatory loans and the role of

         11  Wall Street, because I noticed from your ordinance

         12  that lender is defined broadly.

         13                 My colleague, Deah DelRio testified

         14  before this Committee last month and she brought

         15  maps showing how high-cost lending is overwhelmingly

         16  concentrated in communities of color in New York

         17  City and that is something that we've been

         18  researching for a long time, and I want to make an

         19  offer to the Committee and to the City Council at

         20  large that if there's any way that our data could be

         21  useful, we'd like to extend those resources.

         22                 Okay, at first glance, it seems like

         23  a loan that's made between a borrower and a lender

         24  is a simple transaction, that it's made at arm's

         25  length, or a loan that's made between a broker and a
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          2  borrower.

          3                 In fact, these loans take place

          4  against the back-drop of a very complex

          5  securitization apparatus. In fact, predatory loans

          6  ultimately could not take place without the

          7  involvement of all sorts of financial institutional

          8  players, including perhaps your own pension funds

          9  that might invest in securities, which I'll describe

         10  in a minute.

         11                 And I'm going to talk about this

         12  chart again briefly to describe this complex

         13  financial structure that surrounds the making of

         14  high-cost mortgage loans, and how this structure

         15  ensures that home equity lenders may attain

         16  liquidity so that they can continue to make loans.

         17  And again, there's nothing in this structure that's

         18  per se problematic, but when securitization fuels

         19  predatory lending, we've got a very serious problem,

         20  and I think your bill will go a long way to cutting

         21  it off at the pass.

         22                 But before I go on I want to impress

         23  upon one point, and that's the securitization that

         24  I'm going to describe is nothing short of mortgage

         25  laundering when it comes to predatory loans.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Without securitization we wouldn't

          3  have the problems we now see, and I'm going to call

          4  your attention to the chart, which we call "Follow

          5  the Paper Trail: Anatomy of Securitization."

          6                 If you think of the transaction

          7  between the borrower and the lender, we see that as

          8  sort of the face on the loan. It's what many of us

          9  are familiar with, those of us who are home-owners

         10  or are taking mortgages, we know the arm's

         11  transaction as the borrower, but what you're seeing

         12  here is the body of the transaction, the rest of it,

         13  what's really going on when the loan is made.

         14                 So, in a nutshell, the financial

         15  transaction does not end with the making of the

         16  loan. In fact, the making of loans to individual

         17  borrowers provides a commodity that is swept into a

         18  carefully designed investment structure, often

         19  involving hundreds of millions of dollars, sometimes

         20  a billion dollars, and multiple well known financial

         21  service entities that are engaged in the

         22  securitization.

         23                 Josh Zinner of South Brooklyn Legal

         24  Services will describe how securitization affects

         25  his clients, borrowers who are typically facing
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          2  foreclosure as a result of abusive mortgage loans.

          3  What I'm going to do is just sort of very briefly

          4  explain this complex apparatus that goes around

          5  these loans.

          6                 Okay, so now with the chart.

          7                 What you have -- does everyone have a

          8  copy? Okay, I'm going to try to keep it simple. What

          9  you have at the bottom of the chart, are the

         10  borrowers, the neighborhoods at the ground level,

         11  people who are getting loans, and these loans are

         12  typically pooled. You can see here the relationship

         13  between the borrowers and the lender. Sometimes

         14  there's a broker involved, sometimes not, and, so,

         15  that broker, of course, has a relationship with the

         16  lender, as well as with the borrower.

         17                 From here on out, once this chart

         18  departs from the lender box, what you have is a

         19  design, a structure, that is intended to reduce risk

         20  for investors, intended to limit liability, and

         21  quickly becomes removed from the transaction at the

         22  ground between the borrower and the lender.

         23                 Because what happens is the lender,

         24  and, again, securitizations are very complex, and

         25  each one, to some degree, is unique, but we try to
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          2  sort of boil down a typical securitization as an

          3  example to walk through.

          4                 So, what you see here is the lender

          5  often creates a legal corporation or a legal entity,

          6  known as the depositor, and this depositor is

          7  essentially a shell to which the loans that are

          8  pooled are sold, and right there, there's an example

          9  of removing the liability from the lender.

         10                 This depositor is sometimes the same

         11  entity or corporation or holding company is part of

         12  the same institution as the lender, and sometimes

         13  it's not. But the depositor basically is also known

         14  as a bankruptcy remote special purpose vehicle. And

         15  that's key, because bankruptcy remote is what we're

         16  talking about here. Without even understanding the

         17  minutia here, you'll get the point, that if this

         18  lender were to go into bankruptcy, by creating this

         19  depositor, you start a process in which the rest of

         20  the securitization would be upheld, the creditor's

         21  interest, or the investor's interest would be

         22  maintained if this lender were to go bankrupt and

         23  starts to shield that and protect the risk.

         24                 So, the depositor here takes the

         25  loans and sells them, puts them into the trust, it
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          2  sells them into the trust, which is also created to

          3  buy the mortgages in a securitization and to issue

          4  mortgage-back securities, which has become, as you

          5  know a really, over the last 15 years, a very

          6  burgeoning sector of the financial services

          7  industry.

          8                 The trust is responsible for holding

          9  the loan paper, for cash flows, and for paying out

         10  to the investors who are up here.

         11                 Well known trustees that we have in

         12  New York are Deutche Bank, Wells Fargo, for example.

         13  And, again, this is a very complex transaction

         14  involving multiple parties and, you know, when you

         15  hear about the deals being made, we're talking about

         16  a lot of lawyers and bonds people and underwriters

         17  and investment bankers, and all sorts of people

         18  coming to the table and putting together this

         19  package and conference calls that involve 15 people

         20  on the phone. So, some of this actually happens

         21  simultaneously.

         22                 So, the credit agencies step in and

         23  they rate this investment, but this is also key. The

         24  credit agencies are almost always giving these pools

         25  of high-cost loans the highest possible credit
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          2  rating, because there are mechanisms in here that

          3  enhance the pool, that make sure that the collateral

          4  is strong, and that, again, the investors are making

          5  a relatively low-risk investment.

          6                 And you have examples of credit

          7  rating agencies, Moodys, Standards and Poors, Fitch

          8  and so forth, basically they give legitimacy to this

          9  pool which might actually have harmful loans in it,

         10  by getting, you know, your triple A rating.

         11                 The securities are then sold by an

         12  underwriter, or underwriters, as the case may be.

         13  Well known underwriters include Lehman Brothers,

         14  Salomon Smith Barney of Citigroup, Credit Swisse,

         15  First Boston, Morgan Stanley, just to name a few,

         16  and they do various things to the loan pool as well.

         17                 The securities are then sold into the

         18  marketplace, usually to institutional investors, and

         19  that's where your pension fund comes in, as well as

         20  other institutions that are buying a piece of the

         21  loan.

         22                 So, where the underlying loans are

         23  actually sound, this structure affords liquidity in

         24  the marketplace. It ensures that lenders can reach

         25  markets where credit access is not otherwise
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          2  available. But in the case of predatory loans,

          3  again, securitization fuels predatory lending, and

          4  it's really nothing less than mortgage laundering.

          5                 So, to the extent that your ordinance

          6  addresses the role of securitizers by prohibiting

          7  the City from doing business with those financial

          8  services institutions known to engage in predatory

          9  lending, it will go very far in knocking out these

         10  practices that we see at the ground level.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         13                 Before we move to Mr. Zinner, does

         14  any of my colleagues have questions? No?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I just wanted

         16  to thank you for a very lucid chart on this very

         17  difficult issue.

         18                 I would appreciate the examples that

         19  you gave of the different corporations involved, if

         20  that were attached to this at another moment.

         21                 MS. LUDWIG: Thank you. And I just

         22  wanted -- we have a very talented staff person named

         23  Kat Aaron, who made this chart. And we have an

         24  example that she made which I did not hand out, but

         25  I'll make available, which traces an actual
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          2  securitization, a billion dollar securitization of

          3  household loans made in March 2002, and has all the

          4  entities names here as well. And I just want to

          5  note, to some extent, some people might say this is

          6  complex, this chart, I think people in the industry

          7  would say it's an over-simplification, so it kinds

          8  of cuts both ways. But, again, it's not meant to

          9  include every single element of the transaction but

         10  to give you an idea of how the money flows, and how

         11  what's happening at the ground, potentially harmful

         12  lending gets swept into what looks like a credible

         13  pool and cleans the money, as it were.

         14                 So, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. If one

         16  of the Sergeant-At-Arms could get a copy of that and

         17  get some copies made.

         18                 Mr. Zinner.

         19                 MR. ZINNER: I'd like to thank

         20  Chairman Reed and the whole Consumer Affairs

         21  Committee for tackling this issue in a decisive way.

         22  This is a problem that has been devastating low and

         23  moderate income communities, particularly

         24  communities of color, with high home ownership rates

         25  for years and it's due time that the City Council
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          2  takes on this issue, and I'd like to thank the

          3  Committee for that.

          4                 And also, I'd like to --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you for the

          6  compliment. But before you go any further, would you

          7  just identify yourself for the record.

          8                 MR. ZINNER: Yes. I'm Josh Zinner. I'm

          9  the Coordinator of the Foreclosure Prevention

         10  Project at South Brooklyn Legal Services.

         11                 The Foreclosure and Prevention

         12  Project is a project that represents low and

         13  moderate income home-owners who are being foreclosed

         14  on as a result of abusive or predatory loans.

         15                 We have cases referred to us from all

         16  sorts of entities, including the courts themselves,

         17  community groups, elected officials, and a number of

         18  City and State agencies, including the Department of

         19  Consumer Affairs, including HPD, the Commission,

         20  City Commission on Human Rights, City Department for

         21  the Aging, the District Attorneys' Offices, the

         22  State Attorney General and so forth.

         23                 We've seen over 1,000 cases come in

         24  so we have a good sense of what the practices are on

         25  the street level and I testified at an earlier
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          2  hearing as to what some of those practices are and

          3  so I will not go into that any further, unless

          4  people have questions. But the gist of the practices

          5  is that vulnerable home-owners are being targeted by

          6  practices that skim equity from people's homes and

          7  that lead to high rates of foreclosure.

          8                 There's a couple of points I want to

          9  emphasize, picking up on what Sarah was talking

         10  about regarding the secondary market for these types

         11  of loans.

         12                 First of all, I think that the

         13  industry would say, and I think when they testify

         14  they will say that predatory lending is a bad thing.

         15  I think that there's consensus on that. The problem

         16  is that the industry would like to characterize the

         17  problem as being an issue of a few rogue brokers and

         18  maybe lenders, a few rogue brokers and lenders who

         19  need to be curbed, and not a systematic problem. But

         20  as we've seen, the problem is definitely a

         21  systematic problem that does not involve a few rogue

         22  operators, but instead involves pervasive practices

         23  that are engaged in by some very large corporations.

         24                 And particularly these practices are

         25  enabled by Wall Street, which provides liquidity for
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          2  this market, which brings in investors, lines up

          3  investors at the table, and essentially, as Sarah

          4  testified, sanitizes abusive loans, makes them

          5  palatable as a commodity that can be traded like

          6  pork bellies.

          7                 The secondary Wall Street has the

          8  expertise to essentially to make these loans more

          9  palatable and the key to securitization, again, as

         10  Sarah noted, was to insulate the players from

         11  liability at every level.

         12                 So, you have a situation where these

         13  loans start with brokers, many of them, and I

         14  testified at the last hearing about how many of the

         15  abusive lenders use brokers as bird dogs to go out

         16  into the community and look for vulnerable borrowers

         17  to bring in for loans.

         18                 The lenders will say that while this

         19  is not a problem with the lenders, it's the brokers

         20  who are engaging in abusive practice, the problem is

         21  that the lenders who have been working with these

         22  brokers for many years have made an enormous profit

         23  on the loans that these brokers have brought in,

         24  that these brokers have brought in loans where

         25  there's a very high rate of default, because loans
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          2  are often unaffordable, and where it's very clear

          3  that these brokers are engaging in abusive

          4  practices. But the lenders, when you turn to them

          5  will say, well, it's not our problem, it's the

          6  brokers problem.

          7                 Well, it gets worse because what then

          8  happens is the lender will turn around almost always

          9  immediately and sell the loan on the secondary

         10  market, making it the lenders who originate these

         11  loans do not service them. So, they'll sell the loan

         12  on the secondary market, and then it goes through,

         13  often goes through the process that Sarah described,

         14  the securitization process. And what happens is that

         15  a broker who is targeted for an abusive loan has

         16  very, very little recourse if they try and fight

         17  that loan in court.

         18                 Just to give you a sense of what that

         19  is like for a borrower who is targeted for such a

         20  loan, again, we'll sell lender A originates the

         21  loan, that loan is almost immediately sold, and, so,

         22  the holder of that loan is going to be a trust,

         23  which is sort of a legal fiction in a way, because

         24  what is a trust? It's not a tangible entity, but

         25  it's a legal entity that's holding all of these
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          2  loans.

          3                 In fact, who speaks for the trust is

          4  the question. Well, there's a trustee, as Sarah

          5  described, whose name goes on the trust, and then

          6  there's a servicer who actually collects on the

          7  loans. So, when there's a foreclosure brought, let's

          8  say in Bedford Stuyvesant against Miss Smith, the

          9  foreclosure is brought in the name of the trustee.

         10  And, so, the foreclosure may say Bankers Trust

         11  versus Miss Smith, or US Bank and Trust versus Miss

         12  Smith, or Wells Fargo versus Miss Smith, but in fact

         13  it's not Bankers Trust or Wells Fargo that is

         14  actually moving forward on the foreclosure and

         15  collecting from the borrower. This is done often by

         16  a third-party servicer who is contracted by the

         17  trust to collect on the loan.

         18                 Many of these servicers are located

         19  out of state. There's a couple of very large ones,

         20  there's actually three that are dominating the

         21  market now. There's one called Aquin Federal,

         22  another called Fairbanks Capital, and another called

         23  Littin Loan Servicing. Aquin is located in Florida,

         24  and Fairbanks in Utah, as an example, and these are

         25  1-800 numbers that are contracted out by the trust
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          2  to collect payments from borrowers.

          3                 Now, the way that, say, Aquin or

          4  Fairbanks makes money is by having a very

          5  aggressive, a record of aggressive collections. They

          6  don't make money from, they're not going to be

          7  contracted by a trust if they're trying to work with

          8  the borrower to do the right thing.

          9                 So, what their job is is to collect

         10  at all costs, and these servicers we've seen time

         11  and again are very, very aggressive in their

         12  servicing, will call the borrowers at all hours,

         13  will call borrowers on their jobs, are very quick to

         14  bring foreclosure actions, and really do not work

         15  with borrowers to try and resolve problems on a

         16  loan.

         17                 And we've even as attorneys, when

         18  we're fighting these foreclosures, it's very, very

         19  difficult for us to work with these servicers.

         20  They're not interested in trying to resolve a case.

         21  And, so, for borrowers who are not represented by

         22  counsel, it's very, very difficult to resolve

         23  servicing problems with these entities.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Zinner, let me

         25  just ask you a question, just so I'm clear about
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          2  this.

          3                 So, these servicers are hired

          4  directly by whom?

          5                 MR. ZINNER: By the trust.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the trust is

          7  made up of the people who have securitized the loan?

          8                 MR. ZINNER: The trust, if you look at

          9  the chart that Sarah provided, the trust is really

         10  the legal entity that holds the loan. They're the

         11  legal owner of the loan. The trust --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In other words, the

         13  servicer is really not even working for the person

         14  who initially lent the money; is that correct?

         15                 MR. ZINNER: That's correct. They're

         16  working for the trust that purchases the loan.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, the lender, the

         18  initial lender isn't basically out of the picture?

         19                 MR. ZINNER: The initial lender is

         20  typically out of the picture.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the basic

         22  lender then has already been paid off?

         23                 MR. ZINNER: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They've made their

         25  profit, made their money back, and they're on to
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          2  doing something else?

          3                 MR. ZINNER: There's some companies

          4  that end up also servicing the loans they originate,

          5  and most of the securitizations it's a third-party

          6  servicer that is servicing the loans, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So the home owner

          8  and the borrower has no more relationship with the

          9  person that came and lent them the money?

         10                 MR. ZINNER: Exactly. And in fact,

         11  often times they're dealing with a broker on the

         12  street level and not the lender so there's yet

         13  another layer insulating all of the parties from

         14  liability.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So they really

         16  don't know who they're dealing with --

         17                 MR. ZINNER: It's confusing for us as

         18  attorneys to untangle who we need to deal with in

         19  trying to resolve a foreclosure. For a borrower it's

         20  extremely confusing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, if you're taken

         22  to court and the servicer is processing this, and

         23  you're in court, then the servicer is in court?

         24  That's what I'm trying to understand.

         25                 MR. ZINNER: Yes. Even though -- the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  foreclosure will be brought in the name of the

          3  trustee, but, in fact, the trustee is not involved

          4  in the foreclosure. It's the servicer whose

          5  responsibility it is to actually bring the

          6  foreclosure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: On behalf of the

          8  trustee?

          9                 MR. ZINNER: On behalf of the trust,

         10  yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And, you know, a

         12  further problem, as I said, a lot of these services

         13  are very removed from what goes on in New York, and

         14  they're not tied to -- it's sort of like the exact

         15  opposite of what you're ideal community banking

         16  situation is, where the bank wants to do the right

         17  thing for the community.

         18                 Obviously we live in a different age

         19  now where that's getting less and less common, but

         20  this is sort of the polar opposite. You have the

         21  servicers who have no interest in the community, no

         22  take in the community, no concern for individuals,

         23  and no concern for a reputation, for doing the right

         24  thing to uphold the reputation of good lending

         25  practices. The servicers, really their goal is to
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          2  service these loans as aggressively as possible, and

          3  that's how they make their money for the trusts.

          4                 There's sort of a contradiction, an

          5  internal contradiction in the law that govern this,

          6  which is why this City Council bill, the City

          7  Council legislation is so important.

          8                 Basically the only laws that govern

          9  this process are the securities laws. Now, the

         10  securities laws are set up to protect investors, and

         11  every sort of effort that companies need to make for

         12  due diligence and every effort that companies need

         13  to make to comply with securities laws is to ensure

         14  that these are sound securities and that they're

         15  profitable for investors.

         16                 Now, there is a contradiction here,

         17  because often the making of unaffordable loans can

         18  be profitable, particularly in New York City where

         19  there is plenty of equity in the properties where

         20  lenders will foreclose on properties and then take

         21  them back at a foreclosure auction and sell them on

         22  the market. Foreclosure can be very profitable.

         23                 And, so, there's nothing in the

         24  security laws that govern the product itself. In

         25  other words, is this a sound product that's hurting
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          2  people on the street level? The securities laws

          3  govern whether the securities themselves are

          4  profitable.

          5                 And this is why the City Council bill

          6  is absolutely key, because it imposes a requirement

          7  on the securitizing entities that they look not just

          8  at the profitability of the securities, but also at

          9  the underlying loans that are going to into these

         10  securitizations to make sure that people aren't

         11  being hurt on the street level, and it imposes the

         12  possibility of penalties if they don't fulfill those

         13  obligations.

         14                 And just in closing, I'd like to say

         15  I think the key here is in striking a balance,

         16  obviously.

         17                 I don't think any of us as advocates

         18  would like to say that a responsible subprime market

         19  that supplies legitimate risk-based loans to people

         20  with less than perfect credit should be cut out of

         21  the picture. The key is protecting borrowers against

         22  abusive and predatory loans, and right now the

         23  balance goes way -- the pendulum leans way to the

         24  side of, really there's no obligation on the

         25  secondary market, or very little to police these
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          2  types of loans.

          3                 What this bill would do is put sort

          4  of more of an onus on a very sophisticated secondary

          5  market that's capable of screening for some of these

          6  practices, and provide the proper balance and to

          7  protect New York City borrowers, and then one other

          8  thing is that the industry would like -- I've heard

          9  all sorts of things, this bill would ruin the City

         10  financially and so forth, I think it's important to

         11  note that there's a lot of flexibility inside this

         12  bill, and what I see happening is that if there are

         13  companies that actually are picking up second

         14  abusive loans in their securitization, there's a

         15  process here for them to sit down with the

         16  Comptroller and figure out how to right their

         17  practices.

         18                 This I would think is something the

         19  industry would want, would want the ability to try

         20  and fix bad practices working together with the

         21  City.

         22                 So, you know, I just would like to

         23  say in closing that as an advocate, this bill is

         24  very, very key, and we see many of these problematic

         25  loans, and I think this would go a long, long way to
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          2  addressing this problem.

          3                 And, finally, I'd like to thank the

          4  Committee for passing Resolution, I think it was

          5  93-A, to support the state bill, because that

          6  provides defenses to borrowers and foreclosure and

          7  it's also very, very important.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Council Member Liu.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: The lending

         13  institutions would have us believe they would under

         14  no circumstances want any foreclosures to take

         15  place, and you're saying something very opposite to

         16  what they would claim.

         17                 You're saying that many of these

         18  lenders would in fact want the foreclosures to take

         19  place, and in fact, the foreclosure process is

         20  profitable to them.

         21                 Do you have anything to support your

         22  statement? Any kind of studies, or analysis that

         23  you've conducted?

         24                 MR. ZINNER: Well, I wouldn't say that

         25  lenders want to foreclose. What I would say is that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  in New York City property values are very high.

          3  Abusive refinancing loans, which are the loans that

          4  we're talking about, are made so that there is

          5  equity left in the property. If there is a

          6  foreclosure, there is a margin left for the lender

          7  to capture to protect themselves.

          8                 And, so, what happens, if what we see

          9  is that lenders are engaging in a pattern of, not

         10  all lenders, but lenders that are doing abusive

         11  loans are engaging in a pattern of making loans that

         12  are unaffordable or barely affordable, I wouldn't

         13  say the purpose is to foreclose, the purpose is to

         14  make as much money as possible, and either money can

         15  be made by collecting payments on a high-cost loan,

         16  and high interest with high fees packed into the

         17  loan, or else profit can be made on a foreclosure,

         18  if need be. In other words, there's a protection if

         19  a borrower can't make the payments in the

         20  foreclosure process.

         21                 The vast majority of the abusive

         22  loans are not opposed in court. Borrowers don't have

         23  the wherewithal to find attorneys, they don't know

         24  their defense, and, in fact, there's a huge shortage

         25  of attorneys who can take on these cases, and I
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          2  would say probably 99 percent of these abusive loans

          3  are uncontested in court. Then what the lenders

          4  typically do is they will take back the property at

          5  foreclosure for what's called the upset price, the

          6  amount that they're owed plus interest in fees, and

          7  then they can sell that property on the second --

          8  rather on the open market.

          9                 Many of the big lenders will have

         10  what are called Real Estate Own Divisions, REO

         11  Divisions, where they'll actually market these

         12  properties. So, in New York City, particularly where

         13  property values are high, there is an opportunity

         14  for lenders to make a profit on a foreclosure if it

         15  comes to a foreclosure.

         16                 So, either way they make a profit. I

         17  wouldn't say they intentionally are out to make

         18  foreclosures, but they are intentionally out to make

         19  loans that will skim as much equity as possible from

         20  the homes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Thank

         22  you very much for your testimony.

         23                 MS. LUDWIG: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the work that

         25  you put into these charts. I think they have
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          2  illuminated, it takes a little bit to read it, but

          3  it does illuminate the situation. I'm looking

          4  forward to -- we will probably be hearing from you

          5  again before this is all over.

          6                 MR. ZINNER: Let me just say one other

          7  thing in response to your question that, you know,

          8  again, an easy way to track whether it's profitable

          9  to foreclose is to look at the records of

         10  foreclosure sales in any of the courts, and we can

         11  talk about ways that this can be done, but it's easy

         12  to track when lenders are taking back their own

         13  loans and foreclosure, and how much they are getting

         14  the properties back for, versus how much the

         15  properties are actually worth on the market.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: If it's easy to

         17  do, are there any organizations or advocacy groups

         18  that may have done it already?

         19                 MR. ZINNER: Well, when I say easy to

         20  do, it's an enormous amount of work because you have

         21  to go through individual files. We can talk about

         22  how that can be done. The experience that I relate

         23  is anecdotal in terms of the cases that we see. We

         24  can provide evidence of those cases but in terms of

         25  actually doing a study, it's a time-consuming thing,
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          2  and we can talk about how that can be done.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thanks a lot.

          4                 MR. ZINNER: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, again.

          6                 The next panel I'd like to call up,

          7  and I know these folks have not marked off whether

          8  they are in favor or in opposition, so I make no

          9  connection to their testimony, just in terms of

         10  trying to get us accomplished, we're going to ask

         11  three people to come up to the table and their

         12  testimony doesn't necessarily have to be related to

         13  the next one.

         14                 Kathy Wylde, Michael Smith and

         15  Roberta Kotkin.

         16                 And I'm going to excuse myself for

         17  just a moment, and Council Member Sanders will be

         18  taking over. I will be right back.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good to

         20  see you again. Good to see you.

         21                 MR. SMITH: Good afternoon.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Why don't

         23  we go in the order that was called by the Chair.

         24                 Ms. Wylde.

         25                 MS. WYLDE: Thank you, Acting Chair
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          2  Sanders.

          3                 I'm representing the New York City

          4  Partnership. Many of our members are large financial

          5  institutions. We certainly share the Council's

          6  concern about practices of predatory lending. Many

          7  of our institutional members are active in consumer

          8  education and other programs to assist in combatting

          9  predatory lending.

         10                 I think what is important to point

         11  out here is that predatory lending, and the concern

         12  we have with the legislation is that we address the

         13  issue of predatory lending, as Borough President

         14  Adolfo Carrion suggested, the direct target, and

         15  much of the legislation that we're concerned about

         16  is dealing indirectly, and, therefore, as the

         17  previous panel indicated, we're dealing with a very

         18  complex system through indirect means, which make it

         19  very difficult to do.

         20                 We appreciate the fact that since the

         21  original draft of this legislation that the Council

         22  members have been responsive and responded to some

         23  of the initial concerns by the industry about

         24  clarifying the bill. I think both the inclusion of

         25  home improvement contractors, I think the greater
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          2  discretion with regard to consideration of the

          3  individual underwriters are both important steps in

          4  the right direction, but we still have concerns

          5  about some basic focus of the legislation and want

          6  to suggest some ways that we think in the weeks

          7  ahead, I appreciate that you are waiting for a

          8  response from the industry again, based on how

          9  complex this situation is, I think you will

         10  appreciate that it's not easy to get one's hands

         11  around how to effectively deal with the problem

         12  without throwing the baby out with the bathwater.

         13                 So, the three issues that I just

         14  wanted to relate to and call to your attention,

         15  number one, the importance of industry input.

         16                 You are asking the industry in

         17  particular here, the securities industry, which

         18  usually operates pretty far from the street, not

         19  from Wall Street, from the street to the

         20  neighborhood, you're asking that industry to be your

         21  partner in enforcement, and that is something both

         22  in terms of its due diligence and then in terms of

         23  underwriting how they track this, and that's a

         24  difficult process, and in terms of asking them to be

         25  your partner in enforcement, I really do think you
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          2  have to spend time working with them and figure out

          3  what they can and cannot do and how they can do that

          4  most effectively.

          5                 I think also it's important on the

          6  other portion of the law where you're defining the

          7  terms of the law, you're asking the financial

          8  institutions that are originators of loans to

          9  participate -- of subprime loans to participate with

         10  you, and I think it's very important to keep in mind

         11  that those institutions are responding to all of our

         12  requests over many years that they stretch their

         13  standards to make credit available to people that

         14  haven't been able to get it from conventional

         15  sources, and, so, we have to be very careful, again,

         16  in working with them to make sure that we are

         17  listening to what they can and cannot do so that we

         18  continue to have the extension of high-risk loans to

         19  those who need it and want it, and at the same time

         20  deal with predatory practices directly, hopefully,

         21  as opposed to indirectly.

         22                 The second issue that I'm concerned

         23  about, and we supported, and we're pleased that you

         24  passed, Resolution 93, (a) because we feel that the

         25  second question that you really are facing is that
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          2  the banking industry, financial services industry

          3  are regulated in a multi-level way, and as

          4  Comptroller Thompson stated this morning, what you

          5  don't want to do is have different thresholds at the

          6  City, at the State and the federal level. The State

          7  and the federal government are both entertaining

          8  legislation to tighten up controls on predatory

          9  lending and it's extremely important that we have in

         10  this complex area, that we have consistent standards

         11  running from the City, State and federal government,

         12  that the thresholds, the definitions are consistent,

         13  and I know that's difficult to do, but to fail to do

         14  that really will again result in a situation where

         15  our laws are unenforceable and we're not able to

         16  accomplish what you're seeking to do. So, we think

         17  that's a very important piece to be included in your

         18  consideration, and that we should be coordinating on

         19  all those levels.

         20                 Finally, we think that it's extremely

         21  important to keep credit flowing, and you have to be

         22  careful about the standards that you're imposing on

         23  "subprime lenders," that are not necessarily

         24  predatory lenders, and particularly to distinguish

         25  between regulated financial institutions and
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          2  fly-by-night operators that are on the ground

          3  carrying out a lot of the practices and seller

          4  servicers as well, which came up.

          5                 I think the point that Commissioner

          6  Dykstra made about looking at what might be done to

          7  tighten up direct enforcement capacity of Consumer

          8  Affairs is an important one, and I hope you are

          9  going to consider that.

         10                 I also think that some of the things

         11  we've discussed with regard to broader public

         12  service announcements, perhaps the insurance

         13  program, legal services, support for expanded legal

         14  services for the victims of predatory loans are all

         15  areas that we should be exploring together, both in

         16  the industry and City government to try and tighten

         17  up those other areas.

         18                 With that it would be a pleasure to

         19  work with you in all these areas in trying to make

         20  sure that a problem which is chronic, I started my

         21  housing career in the late sixties with the 235

         22  mortgage scandals, which were a piece of exactly the

         23  same undertaking that we have today. Unfortunately,

         24  the securities market is global. If New York

         25  City-based institutions are not providing predatory
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          2  lenders, there are others around the world who will.

          3  We have to get at the root of the problem and be

          4  realistic about how to do that.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank

          7  you.

          8                 Mr. Smith, I believe.

          9                 Good to see you again, sir.

         10                 MR. SMITH: Good to see you.

         11                 Mr. Chairman, members of the panel,

         12  good afternoon. My name is Michael Smith and I am

         13  President of the New York Bankers Association. We

         14  are an organization comprised of community banks,

         15  regional banks, and money center commercial banks in

         16  the State of New York.

         17                 In the aggregate, our members have

         18  over 220,000 employees in the state and city. We

         19  again welcome this second opportunity to participate

         20  in a cooperative dialogue on the issue of predatory

         21  lending, and appreciate the prudent approach that

         22  you are taking to this issue, and the chance also to

         23  appear today with the New York Partnership, Kathy

         24  Wylde.

         25                 We appear before you to reaffirm, as
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          2  we did earlier, our association and our members'

          3  unwaivering opposition to predatory lending

          4  practices.

          5                 We remain committed to working with

          6  you and the State and federal officials, to

          7  eradicate the problem. And we applaud Resolution

          8  93-A and your action today to call upon the State

          9  Legislature to adopt the uniformed state standard

         10  for high-cost home loans. We stated our support for

         11  such action, as did the AARP during our testimony

         12  last month, and we believe that compliance with a

         13  single statewide standard would be the most

         14  meaningful and effective approach as it relates to

         15  regulated financial services firms.

         16                 I will again thank you for taking

         17  that action, and we support you.

         18                 This is our third appearance before a

         19  governmental body on this issue in the last two

         20  months, despite the fact that only a handful of our

         21  members are engaged in the subprime lending market,

         22  and has been noted in this hearing and a previous

         23  hearing and a statewide hearing, there are many,

         24  many other players in this market.

         25                 However, all of our members are
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          2  committed to their communities and the access to

          3  banking services.

          4                 On the deposit side, for example,

          5  support it as an association, the establishment of

          6  basic banking lifeline accounts for all New Yorkers.

          7                 And on the lending side, as I will

          8  explain more fully, we have engaged in a number of

          9  initiatives designed to help consumers avoid

         10  predatory lenders, access conventional credit, and

         11  forestall foreclosure.  Our commitment is clear.

         12  It's more than symbolic.

         13                 We have become the lightning rod

         14  because we stand out by appearing before you and

         15  others to make our case.

         16                 From the very beginning of this

         17  issue's prominence on the agenda of the City, the

         18  State and federal leaders before them, the New York

         19  Banker's Association has been at the forefront with

         20  efforts to develop workable solutions.

         21                 Our efforts over the past two years

         22  have been directed at legislation and regulation

         23  that would achieve the following objectives, and

         24  this is proactive: Uniformity and consistency in law

         25  and regulation for all financial services firms;

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  definitions which ensnare the predators, but do not

          3  impair legitimate lenders, and expanded enforcement.

          4                 We also support private and public

          5  sector outreach initiatives, which the Commissioner

          6  mentioned earlier today.

          7                 We were the first state trade group

          8  to adopt best practices for high cost lending, an

          9  initiative with national import, since our members

         10  operate across state lines.

         11                 Very importantly, in conjunction with

         12  US Senator Chuck Schumer and many faith-based

         13  organizations in the City of New York, particularly

         14  Queens and Brooklyn, we have launched the House

         15  Equity Lending Program, HELP, to build new lines of

         16  communications, such as our toll-free hot line

         17  number to help borrowers in vulnerable New York City

         18  neighborhoods avoid predatory situations right to

         19  the point of earlier testimony about data as to why

         20  certain neighborhoods you're getting subprime loans

         21  instead of prime loans, the results of about a

         22  year's worth of discussions was to establish a hot

         23  line.

         24                 To date we have received more than

         25  1,000 calls. Currently our banks are evaluating
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          2  hundreds of potential home loan applicants from

          3  across the City's neighborhoods who have contacted

          4  us through the health hot line. The number is

          5  877-297-7179, and it's been widely publicized and we

          6  welcome the calls.

          7                 We have committed resources to

          8  enhance in consumer awareness of the mortgage

          9  lending process, working with AARP, the Better

         10  Business Bureau, the Attorney General and others as

         11  part of the Fair Lending Coalition.

         12                 The Fair Lending Coalition also will

         13  shortly be developing a Speaker's bureau designed to

         14  educate New York consumers so that they may avoid

         15  the pitfalls of predatory lenders, and perhaps most

         16  importantly, we have forged productive partnerships

         17  with consumer and community groups to reach a

         18  consensus on how best to protect both the consumer

         19  and the consumer's ability to obtain the credit they

         20  need and deserve.

         21                 Our members have certified their

         22  commitment to home ownership in New York City's

         23  neighborhoods by working with Fannie Mae, Freddie

         24  Mac and HUD to help borrowers stave off foreclosure,

         25  as was noted in a front-page article in the New York
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          2  Times this week, and we are beginning to make

          3  progress in that area, and I submit that article

          4  that appeared, which also talked about the cost of

          5  foreclosures.

          6                 For example, Fannie Mae and Freddie

          7  Mac lose about $12,000 on typical foreclosures as

          8  related into the neighborhood that's in the article.

          9                 We're making progress, we have a lot

         10  more work to do and we want to work with you in

         11  this.

         12                 In addition to all these initiatives,

         13  we have worked for months to help develop

         14  legislation on a statewide level which would seek to

         15  eradicate predatory practices, without inadvertently

         16  negatively affecting the availability of credit by

         17  legitimate lenders to subprime borrowers.

         18                 In this regard we have recommended

         19  meaningful amendments to proposed state law,

         20  designed to provide consumers with the ability to be

         21  compensated for the damages that they may incur at

         22  the hands of predators, and would clarify and

         23  enhance assignee liability, selling of these

         24  mortgages in the market, and would give the New York

         25  State Attorney General enforcement powers along with
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          2  the current authority under the Superintendent of

          3  Banks in Part 41.

          4                 We believe that such legislation

          5  would protect all of New York State's consumers, and

          6  thus, we would be pleased to share our proposals

          7  with you, actual amendments to the legislation that

          8  passed the Assembly last year and is the subject to

          9  the Senate this year, and we will submit and are

         10  prepared to submit these proposals which are our

         11  recommendations.

         12                 Over the past several months, the

         13  Association and AARP have been engaged in

         14  cooperative talks to achieve a common goal,

         15  protecting consumers from the predators, while

         16  protecting the vital pool of credit to the moderate

         17  and low-income borrowers.

         18                 Our talks have been constructive and

         19  are still ongoing, although we believe the pace is

         20  quickening in Albany, and there will be a

         21  resolution.

         22                 We remain committed to achieving a

         23  statewide solution to this problem. Moreover, while

         24  we believe that strong existing state and federal

         25  regulation, such as Part 41, and such as HELP at the
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          2  federal level, has already driven many predators out

          3  of business in New York, the power of even tougher

          4  criminal and civil penalties as deterrents cannot be

          5  underestimated.

          6                 We therefore continue to urge, for

          7  example, that stronger penalties be enacted for all

          8  guilty parties, including lenders, who engage in

          9  predatory practices, and those who may not be

         10  subject to the current tough array of existing

         11  federal and state laws and regulations to which

         12  banks are already subject.

         13                 As talks continue at the state level,

         14  our members have met with City officials who have

         15  listened carefully to their concerns regarding

         16  Introduction 67. We believe that the bill, even with

         17  its current amendments would still hurt consumers it

         18  is designed to protect.

         19                 For example, Introduction 67-A still

         20  maintains a five percent annual percentage rate

         21  threshold for a first lien home loan, which is a

         22  very significant 300 basis points below New York and

         23  federal laws comparable thresholds and those of many

         24  other states, and which would significantly increase

         25  the number of home loans subject to restrictive
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          2  provisions. Thus, the bill could inappropriately

          3  label legitimate subprime lenders as "high cost" or

          4  even "predatory" lenders - a reputational risk which

          5  our banks want to avoid.

          6                 We believe, therefore, that

          7  Introduction 67-A could still have a chilling effect

          8  on the availability of credit by our members to

          9  moderate and low income New Yorkers who need

         10  subprime credit.

         11                 If legitimate lenders are driven from

         12  the marketplace, what will those people who need

         13  credit, who will they return to?

         14                 We are hopeful that the negotiations,

         15  which are ongoing, and which are intense, and some

         16  of the product is before you, or will be before you

         17  today, will validate the existing state and federal

         18  rate threshold while other aspects of the pending

         19  legislation are receiving close scrutiny.

         20                 We share your goal of freeing the

         21  City's neighborhoods from the horrors caused by

         22  predatory lenders.

         23                 We believe that our common goal is

         24  best achieved through a uniform state standard for

         25  all financial services firms, expanded enforcement
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          2  and tougher penalties for the predators, continued

          3  public/private partnerships to raise consumer

          4  awareness, and a definition of 'predatory lender'

          5  that does not impair the valuable work of legitimate

          6  lenders in the City's communities.

          7                 We hope our suggestions, which we

          8  have shared with you today, will help in your

          9  deliberations. We again applaud your action today

         10  calling for state action, and we thank you for this

         11  opportunity to discuss this issue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         13                 Roberta Kotkin.

         14                 MS. KOTKIN: I'm here as general

         15  counsel with Mr. Smith.

         16                 MR. SMITH: Our general counsel.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Sanders, do you have a

         19  question?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes, sir.

         21                 Mr. Smith, let's see, at first I want

         22  to applaud you for of course your testimony and for

         23  a desire to work with the Committee.

         24                 Let me preface it by doing this: If I

         25  were a betting man, which I am not, if I were a
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          2  betting man, I would bet that the majority of this

          3  Committee is ready to move on this bill as it is,

          4  and we need a counter proposal, if you wish. We need

          5  some language, we need something that you believe

          6  would be useful.

          7                 I'm delighted that you believe you

          8  have some things, some information that you want to

          9  share with us, and I call upon the Sergeant-At-Arms

         10  to get this information quickly. We've been calling

         11  for it for a little bit. I do not want it to vanish

         12  on us. So, if the Sergeant-At-Arms will be kind

         13  enough to get that information.

         14                 But I'm still a little puzzled. I

         15  need to know, how much are we really speaking about

         16  in this business? As you know better than I there's

         17  a difference between a dollar and a million dollars;

         18  how much money is the banking community -- how much

         19  money will be lost, a guesstimate, put me in the

         20  ball park, if these new practices are upheld?

         21                 MR. SMITH: Well, we're against

         22  predatory practices. We're certainly against those

         23  practices. And we believe that the estimate should

         24  be in terms of the damage or the hurt to our

         25  prospective customers and the consumers.
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          2                 The fact of the matter is, our

          3  particular members, as I testified to, we only have

          4  a handful that are in the so-called subprime lending

          5  market, to distinguish ourselves from any others,

          6  and you probably are familiar with several of these

          7  banks.

          8                 It's a relatively new business, it is

          9  an important business, because it's directed and it

         10  has changed over the years so that banks, the way

         11  that technology has evolved has allowed banks, in

         12  conjunction with a secondary market, to expand

         13  lending to those who otherwise may not be able to

         14  receive credit.

         15                 In this market, which we know has

         16  been mentioned, has grown dramatically. That's the

         17  growth of this particular market, not of the entire

         18  housing market.

         19                 The last thing we want to do is to

         20  see that type of program or credit to dry up. And

         21  when you, as was said in the testimony, when you --

         22  and these are our particular members that I'm

         23  talking for right now -- when these thresholds that

         24  we've talked about, because they get all the

         25  attention, and we don't talk about the practices so
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          2  much, but when you drive those thresholds down, you

          3  obviously increase the pool of loans that are in the

          4  basket that you're talking about, and you have the

          5  potential, and you define them as either high-cost

          6  or predatory loans, and our members, as we have

          7  testified before, do not want to be in that

          8  definition. So, therefore the inclination would be

          9  possibly to not engage in that market, or even to

         10  get close to a situation where they would be deemed

         11  predatory lender. That would have an impact also on

         12  the secondary market. Fannie Mae, for example,

         13  today, as I understand it, I know the bond market

         14  association is testifying at this hearing, which is

         15  very important, because that's the secondary market

         16  group, the fact of the matter is, Fannie Mae, to my

         17  knowledge, does not even purchase HELP loans today,

         18  and they're at an eight percent threshold, which is

         19  300 basis points above the five in the bill.

         20                 We respectfully suggest that as you

         21  go forward, that these, as has been testified

         22  earlier, and today, we urge that there be

         23  consistency. We urge, in the one instance, that we

         24  have strong state laws. We would like those state

         25  laws to be consistent throughout. We don't want to
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          2  have a patchwork quilt of a lot of different laws.

          3  We want them to be strong and meaningful, and that's

          4  why we support 93-A, and that's why we're supporting

          5  strong state legislation, and in fact, that's why we

          6  had eight hours of meanings Thursday with AARP and

          7  with other groups. We are committed to doing

          8  something here.

          9                 Secondly, in the national markets,

         10  the federal reserve, it's my understanding that the

         11  federal reserve regulations just establishing 800 or

         12  eight percent, have not even gone into effect yet,

         13  and they move down to correspond to a New York State

         14  initiative. So, what we would like to do is to keep

         15  those thresholds, we think you will deal with the

         16  predatory and the predator problems, and we want to

         17  talk with you and we want to continue our very

         18  deliberate discussions in Albany to talk about all

         19  the other issues that are part of this legislation

         20  and that are in this document, such as points and

         21  fees and defining what types of loans should be in

         22  the mix. And also, too, that we really give, as the

         23  Commissioner of Consumer Affairs pointed out today,

         24  enforcement authority to go after those predators,

         25  that we give the Attorney General that authority
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          2  consistent and coincident with the Banking Authority

          3  today, and that we have a good state law.

          4                 We think -- I don't want to estimate

          5  costs. We do not ask our members to give us actual

          6  costs. I think that the cost here will be to the

          7  consumers around the City of New York who could be

          8  taking advantage of this market. We don't want there

          9  to be bad practices out there.

         10                 And the HELP program, for example, I

         11  know it doesn't get a lot of -- this is a new

         12  program, it's the banks of our members, by the way,

         13  going to the communities, working with the church

         14  groups, and the way it works is, people in the

         15  neighborhoods call us, call this 800 number, we send

         16  them a packet of information on mortgages and how to

         17  get a loan and consumer education pieces. They can

         18  say they're interested in getting a loan, they're

         19  posted on a web site, and at least three of our

         20  member banks, we have about 80 in the program, pick

         21  those mortgages off and get back to the consumer.

         22  It's very much an outreach program, it's brand new,

         23  and its intent is to deal with this whole issue that

         24  came up at the previous hearing dealing with

         25  subprime lending and prime lending and reaching into
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          2  certain communities in New York.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I just want

          4  to assure you, sir, that we certainly are going to

          5  do something that the actual predators, my office

          6  staff is actually looking at trying to word

          7  something on this. I'm sure that there are several

          8  others who we are not going to let the very man or

          9  woman who knocks on that door and helps deprive some

         10  senior of her house in some later date slip by this

         11  unnoticed. But I would be remiss if I did not

         12  encourage this dialogue that we're having and to

         13  even speed this process up, because were I a betting

         14  man, not only would this pass this Committee, it

         15  would pass the Council. There are those who want to

         16  call the question, who believe that there's only so

         17  much dialogue that you can have over an issue if you

         18  are serious and still do something about a problem.

         19  So, I definitely encourage you and you and those --

         20  I understand, thanks to Kathy Wylde and others, who

         21  have given me an excellent education and some of the

         22  ins and outs of the banking industry, that it's not

         23  perhaps as simple as I may have understood from a

         24  distance. This education has done me well, and I

         25  would suggest to see you and two others, that Miss
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          2  Wylde's role has been really critical here in making

          3  sure that your needs and your interests are not only

          4  well represented but well stated. I can speak for

          5  myself to say that I understand this process far

          6  more thanks to her, but even as I understand this,

          7  please understand me, the conversation will not go

          8  on forever. This must come to an end fairly shortly.

          9                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you.

         11                 Mr. Chair, thank you very much, sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I thank you all

         13  very much for your testimony.

         14                 MR. SMITH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15  Thank you, panelists.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We have a bit of an

         17  issue here in terms of time. I know that there are

         18  lots of people that are signed up, we have space

         19  issues and time issues. We are going to be having

         20  another hearing on this. We're not taking a vote

         21  today. We're going to be having another hearing.

         22                 I know that there is somebody here

         23  from ACORN, there are many people here from ACORN,

         24  and so I would perhaps ask if ACORN could come up

         25  with one person to testify, and others, we would ask
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          2  you to come and you'll be first at the next hearing.

          3  And I know that there is someone here from the bond

          4  market that wants to speak, and I'd like them to

          5  identify themselves.

          6                 Your name is what, sir?

          7                 MR. MILLER: George Miller.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Miller? Thank you.

          9                 After she speaks, you could speak.

         10                 I would also ask that people please,

         11  in your testimony, we want you to be brief, because

         12  we really have a lot of constraints on our time

         13  today and I apologize for being late and getting

         14  started late, but we're going to, before this is

         15  over with, have a full airing of everybody's

         16  concerns. But this is a new bill, this is something

         17  that we have, I think, in fact, I know, it's been a

         18  great deal of time, trying to respond after the

         19  first hearing, and work with our staff, who I want

         20  to thank publicly for the amount of work they put

         21  into this, and with many of the associations.

         22                 So, I would encourage, and we're

         23  going to have one person, right, from ACORN? Okay.

         24  And I would encourage you in your testimony to speak

         25  to this new bill, okay? Whether you like the bill or
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          2  whatever, we I think now have established what the

          3  issue is and how difficult it is. So, I'm just

          4  asking you, please, to work with us. If you have

          5  comments about the new bill, please let us know.

          6  Councilman Sanders is doing a terrific soft shoe

          7  with me, he's going to handle this again for just a

          8  few minutes.

          9                 Who is speaking? Push the thing in

         10  and please identify yourself.

         11                 MS. WALDRON: My name is Gloria

         12  Waldron, President of New York ACORN. I am just

         13  going to just make an observation and turn it over

         14  to my partner.

         15                 The last panel said that Fannie Mae

         16  loses 12,000 on each foreclosure, and I wondered,

         17  why then are they foreclosing?

         18                 Also I wondered, you know, how come

         19  these people -- I thought the good people, what part

         20  of we're only going after the bad guys don't they

         21  understand? You know, all these good people, I

         22  thought that we would have them on our band-wagon,

         23  because they would say, good, now they're throwing

         24  out the bad ones who makes all of us look bad, and

         25  instead of that, they're always in defense of them.
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          2  So, you know, that was a concern of mine.

          3                 Let me turn it over to my partners.

          4  I'm sure you know that ACORN has been a forerunner

          5  in this struggle, and we will continue to be

          6  relentless until poor and middle income New Yorkers,

          7  have the right to buy their homes and keep their

          8  homes. So, I thank this Council so much because you

          9  all have jumped in, running with these difficult

         10  issues. God bless you.

         11                 MS. DONNER: (Not identified for the

         12  record.) Thank you, Council Members. I will try to

         13  talk very briefly. There's been quite a bit of

         14  testimony about the crucial role of the secondary

         15  market, in the financing of these loans. And we're

         16  circulating a chart that makes that point in one

         17  additional way. One of the comments we've heard

         18  sometimes from opponents of the bill is that we are

         19  not actually going after the wrong -- we're not

         20  going after the bad guys, it's somebody else who is

         21  making the bad loans and that the mechanisms in this

         22  bill won't touch those people. The chart that you've

         23  got in front of you, and it's not a perfect

         24  document, because there's no one place that any of

         25  this information is put together, so what we did is
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          2  just look at the records of securitizations listed

          3  publicly over the last couple of years, and we

          4  didn't find everyone and we didn't find every

          5  listing of the names of the lenders we were looking

          6  for. But even a brief look, the list you have before

          7  you is the 20 larger subprime lenders in the City of

          8  New York, based on the 2000 data, because that's the

          9  most recent data we have publicly available. We

         10  looked at those lenders who between them make the

         11  bulk of the subprime loans in New York, the lenders

         12  on top of that list made a little over 2,000 loans

         13  in the year under consideration and the number 20

         14  was down to only 140. So, the whole rest of the

         15  market is very small numbers.

         16                 And almost every one of those lenders

         17  either does business in some way with the major

         18  financial institutions that do business with the

         19  City in some way, either by virtue of securitizing

         20  loans, playing one of the many roles that Sarah and

         21  Josh described, by virtue of the City investing in

         22  either their shares directly or in those pools of

         23  loans, so the relationships really are there, and

         24  the relationships really are there for the mechanism

         25  in this legislation to make a difference on the
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          2  ground. That's the first point.

          3                 The second point I want to make is we

          4  think the legislation, as many others has said, has

          5  in fact reflected already our listening pretty

          6  carefully, and Council members listening pretty

          7  carefully to the industry with regard to what a

          8  viable enforcement mechanism is, and that's it very

          9  flexible, as people have said, it's not Gotcha Bill,

         10  it does not look to disbar people from doing

         11  business with the City for making a mistake, or even

         12  for making a couple of mistakes, it looks to

         13  establish a set of standards that protect borrowers

         14  from abusive practices, and then to give the lenders

         15  the chance to comply with those standards, with the

         16  expectation that they can and will be able to do it,

         17  and the process that it has in place for that is a

         18  process that reflects the due diligence that

         19  secondary market players engage in already, they

         20  already ask the lenders who they buy from to assure

         21  them that the loans they buy comply with existing

         22  law, that the credit ratings of the borrowers are

         23  what they've represented them to be, and then they

         24  check because they don't just take the lender's word

         25  for it.
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          2                 We're asking them to do the same

          3  kinds of things but with regard to a set of criteria

          4  that protect borrowers from abusive loans.

          5                 We think the bill is and should be

          6  very flexible in that way and designed to help

          7  people comply with it, not designed to get anyone.

          8                 In the place we think the bill should

          9  be tough, and we think the bill should be tougher

         10  than it is in its current writing, in one or two

         11  important respects, is in defining what an abusive

         12  loan, what a predatory loan is. And we agree with

         13  the industry speakers who said that not all subprime

         14  loans are predatory. We don't believe that all

         15  subprime loans are predatory, we believe there's a

         16  place for responsible subprime lending, we believe

         17  it's appropriate to price loans, according to the

         18  risk that the borrower actually represents. We think

         19  those loans become abusive when the real cost of

         20  credit are hidden, when borrowers could and should

         21  qualify for mortgages at A rates or put in loans at

         22  higher rates, when equity is stripped from

         23  borrowers, through high financed fees, through

         24  prepayment penalties and through repeated

         25  refinancing, and it's that crucial piece that is the
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          2  one place, or the single most important place that

          3  we think the bill actually could and needs to be

          4  tougher, and in being tougher will be in line with

          5  the State legislation that's being considered, and,

          6  in fact, with the federal legislation that's been

          7  proposed or closer in line.

          8                 We think that the definition of what

          9  constitutes a high-cost loan, the points and fees

         10  definition, should be lower. I mean, the

         11  perspective, the number to think about, I looked

         12  this morning at Freddie Mac's website, which lists

         13  for the previous week what the average interest

         14  rate, what the average points and fees charged going

         15  directly to the lender or broker are on mortgages

         16  made across the country, and for this past week, for

         17  the week ending May the 3rd, the average interest

         18  rate was 6.75 percent, and the average points and

         19  fees were 0.7 percent of the loan amount. The

         20  threshold in our bill has a high-cost loans, so none

         21  of the protections apply below this threshold. Above

         22  this threshold loans are not illegal, they just have

         23  additional protections that have to be included in

         24  the loan. The threshold is five points above

         25  treasury rates. This morning's treasury rate was
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          2  5.6. So, ten and a half by the time when an A loan

          3  is 6.75. And a lot of room for not just A borrowers,

          4  but A minus borrowers, and B borrowers, to get a

          5  loan before any of the provisions of this bill come

          6  into play. We're comfortable with that threshold.

          7                 The points and fees threshold right

          8  now is at five percent, and we think that that's too

          9  high, and we think that in the market in which A

         10  loans are typically made with 0.7 percent, the loan

         11  amount last week in points and fees, there's no

         12  reason to charge seven times that, a subprime loan.

         13  We think that the appropriate place to charge for

         14  risk is in the rate and not in the points and fees.

         15                 If you charge in the rate, borrowers

         16  can compare one loan to another. If you charge it in

         17  the rate, a borrower who is placed in an unfairly

         18  high rate loan can get out.

         19                 If you charge it in the up-front

         20  points and fees, what happens is those fees are

         21  financed into the loan, the borrower pays interest

         22  on those fees over the life of the loan, and they've

         23  lost that equity in their home permanently. So that

         24  each time they refinance, they lose more and more.

         25                 It provides the worst players in the
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          2  market with an incentive to make loans in order to

          3  suck those points and fees out in the transaction.

          4  They don't own the loan, as people have explained,

          5  someone else has got it. They don't care, they care

          6  just about getting that amount up front. It puts

          7  desperate borrowers, and we see this often,

          8  borrowers who are desperate to make their payment by

          9  any means necessary. Mr. Zinner sees people who

         10  reach foreclosure, we see many, many other people

         11  who are barely staving off foreclosure and really

         12  miserable and impoverished by their efforts to stave

         13  off foreclosure, refinancing repeatedly, because

         14  somebody offers, you know, makes an offer, sounds

         15  like they're going to help them out, and each time

         16  more equity is stripped from the loan.

         17                 So, we think that the provision that

         18  defines the loan as high cost at a pretty modest

         19  level, with regard to points and fees, and that

         20  tightly cast the financing of points and fees on

         21  high-cost loans is the most, among the most

         22  important provisions of a bill that seeks to protect

         23  people from abusive loans. And that the threshold,

         24  as we said, that defines the high-cost loan should

         25  be a little bit lower, and that the limit on the
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          2  financing of points and fees should be lower, should

          3  be three percent, rather than five percent.

          4                 The bill being considered in Albany,

          5  in fact, says no financing of fees at all on

          6  high-cost loans, as does the bill that was passed in

          7  North Carolina, the federal bill being considered as

          8  a limit of three percent on points and fees to

          9  define a high-cost loan, and has a limit of

         10  financing of points and fees on high-cost loans, and

         11  in fact, it has a broader definition of points and

         12  fees than ours, so it's got a tighter cap than the

         13  one being proposed here.

         14                 There's a number of other very small

         15  technical changes that are in our written testimony.

         16  Perhaps the one other substantial place that we

         17  think the bill, that there needs to be somewhat

         18  stronger protection against abusive loans is on the

         19  piece on balloon payments. Right now the bill reads

         20  there can't be a balloon payment extended, that

         21  comes due within seven years of the loan's

         22  origination, and we think that on high-cost loans

         23  balloon payments should not be permitted at all.

         24  It's actually sometimes the long balloon payments

         25  that are the most abusive, that we say we see people
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          2  in 15 or 30 year balloons, where people are

          3  essentially renting their home from the lender for

          4  the 15 or 30 years of that loan. They're paying

          5  tens, hundreds of thousands of dollars, making

          6  barely -- owing as much as they did at the start at

          7  the end, and they're not doing what homeownership is

          8  about, which is building equity. They're having it

          9  taken from them, rather than building it.

         10                 In the interest of time, I will stop

         11  there.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 Are there questions from the Council

         15  Members? Even as my Council members think of a

         16  possible question, let me alert the audience that we

         17  have been joined by Robert Jackson, who has been

         18  here for quite awhile.

         19                 Is there a question from the Council

         20  Members?

         21                 Then thank you very much for this

         22  panel.

         23                 I'm going to call upon Mr. Miller.

         24                 Mr. Miller, we're going to really

         25  watch our clock here, and if you have testimony,
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          2  please give it to one of the Sergeants-At-Arms, and

          3  give us the high points of your testimony.

          4                 Mr. Miller, would you be kind enough

          5  to identify yourself and state your name for the

          6  record.

          7                 MR. MILLER: Yes. Thank you, Acting

          8  Chairman Reed. My name is George Miller. I am Senior

          9  Vice President and Deputy General Counsel of the

         10  Bond Market Association, a trade association that

         11  represents securities, firms and banks that

         12  underwrite trade and sell fixed income securities.

         13                 Our members play an important role in

         14  the secondary market for home mortgage loans, acting

         15  as loan purchasers and as underwriters and dealers

         16  of mortgage back securities.

         17                 The Association's membership also

         18  provides a wide range of financial services to the

         19  City and to other public and private clients.

         20                 It's important for me to note at the

         21  outset that although a number of our member firms

         22  have prime and subprime mortgage lending affiliates.

         23  The Association does not represent those lending

         24  affiliates, or mortgage lenders directly, more

         25  generally.
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          2                 We're very grateful for the

          3  opportunity to comment on the predatory lending

          4  legislation currently before this Committee, and we

          5  commend you and Chairman Reed for your leadership in

          6  holding this hearing.

          7                 The Association agrees with this

          8  Committee that abusive, fraudulent and

          9  unconscionable lending practices have a detrimental

         10  effect on individuals in communities, and we support

         11  thoughtful and effective initiatives within both the

         12  public and private sectors to curb those practices.

         13                 However, we oppose the bill as

         14  drafted because we do not believe that it would

         15  effectively curb predatory lending.

         16                 Instead, we think it would harm the

         17  larger subprime residential mortgage market, which

         18  is supported by the private capital market, rather

         19  than through any government sponsored secondary

         20  market program, by discouraging the purchase and

         21  securitization of legitimate subprime residential

         22  mortgages.

         23                 We believe that the result of

         24  enacting this legislation, as presently drafted,

         25  would be to reduce the availability and increase the
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          2  cost of credit for subprime residential mortgage

          3  borrower in New York City.

          4                 We would like to work toward more

          5  effective solutions, and I do have a number of ideas

          6  to share with you in that regard.

          7                 Let me just say in starting out, and

          8  I will get to some specific comments and suggestions

          9  on the legislation in a moment, we understand the

         10  desire by some Council members to hold integrated

         11  financial services firms accountable for the

         12  inappropriate or illegal lending practices that may

         13  occur within their mortgage lending unit.

         14                 However, we do not believe that it is

         15  possible for securities underwriters and secondary

         16  market purchasers of mortgage loans, once those

         17  loans have been made, in effect, to cleanse loan

         18  pools of predatory instruments in the manner that

         19  the bill suggests. We believe that truly effective

         20  supervision, control and oversight of permissible

         21  loan features and lending practices can only occur

         22  at the mortgage origination level.

         23                 Notwithstanding our fundamental

         24  opposition to legislation of this type --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Could I ask you a
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          2  question, because you made a point, and I apologize

          3  for bouncing back and forth, we haven't rehearsed

          4  today's schedule and it's quite confusing, so I

          5  apologize.

          6                 Are you saying that you can't cleanse

          7  them, or it's too much work?

          8                 MR. MILLER: There are situations

          9  where I believe that it would be impossible, quite

         10  frankly, for a secondary market participant, such as

         11  a securities underwriter, to perform the kind of

         12  review of loan files and documentation that would

         13  permit them to in further presence of some of the

         14  criteria that this bill seeks to, I think

         15  legitimately seeks to exclude.

         16                 As I said, notwithstanding our basic

         17  opposition, we have worked with members of the

         18  Council to address some of the specific concerns we

         19  have, and I'll actually elaborate on my answer to

         20  your question in a moment.

         21                 We appreciate this dialogue, and

         22  support the addition of a safe harbor to the bill

         23  that would offer firms a clearer path to avoid the

         24  label of predatory lender.

         25                 The current version of 67-A, however,
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          2  still contains several provisions, that we think

          3  must be revised to ensure that the bill, if enacted,

          4  does not significantly disrupt the flow of subprime

          5  mortgage credit to deserving borrowers.

          6                 I will briefly outline some of the

          7  most important revisions that we believe are needed.

          8                 First, and this point really is

          9  fundamental, I think it is responsive to your

         10  question, and I think it's one that hasn't been

         11  effectively addressed by other speakers this far,

         12  the bill's provision would not allow for the

         13  objective determination by secondary market

         14  participants of loans that are and are not

         15  predatory, because many of the criteria are highly

         16  qualitative and subjective, it is simply not

         17  possible for a securities underwriter, for example,

         18  to determine whether a loan is a predatory loan, as

         19  that term is presently defined in the bill, again,

         20  by conducting loan level reviews.

         21                 To address this problem, we recommend

         22  that a separate definition be adopted for predatory

         23  loan terms. These would consist of specifically

         24  enumerated objectively determinable loan features,

         25  which can be identified by reviewing the loan
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          2  documents themselves.

          3                 A secondary market participant should

          4  not be subject to the bill's sanctions if it could

          5  demonstrate that it had adopted reasonable

          6  procedures designed to prevent that entity from

          7  engaging in a pattern and practice of purchasing

          8  subprime loans having such predatory loan terms.

          9                 Establishing and following these

         10  procedures is an obligation that our members can and

         11  would be willing to undertake.

         12                 Second, for firms seeking to utilize

         13  the safe harbor, the bill includes a requirement

         14  that underwriters review a 15 percent sample of any

         15  given loan pool.

         16                 Standard market practice regarding

         17  loan sampling varies according to many factors, such

         18  as the previous relationship and familiarity with

         19  and business reputation of a particular lender.

         20                 Requiring loan level review of any

         21  arbitrary sampling percentage and especially a floor

         22  at 15 percent would increase underwriter costs

         23  substantially, without providing any greater level

         24  of assurance that loans contained in a pool were not

         25  used, were not made using predatory tactics.
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          2                 These costs are ultimately born by

          3  consumers, in this case mortgage borrowers. If

          4  sampling is to be mandated, we believe that market

          5  participants should be allowed to exercise

          6  commercially reasonable discretion to determine

          7  appropriate sampling percentages, rather than being

          8  required to satisfy an arbitrary sampling standard.

          9                 Third, we recommend that the

         10  definition of lender be divided into two separate

         11  definitions, in recognition of the distinct roles

         12  the different types of financial institutions play

         13  in the primary and secondary mortgage market.

         14                 A lender would be limited to a person

         15  who directly extends one or more subprime loans. A

         16  separate definition of purchaser should be

         17  established to include entities that purchase or

         18  invest in or arrange for the purchase of or

         19  investment in subprime loans. Duties,

         20  responsibilities, sanctions and penalties applicable

         21  to each should reflect the different roles that they

         22  play.

         23                 Fourth, and the final point, is that

         24  we believe that traders of mortgage back security

         25  should be excluded from the definition of both
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          2  lender and purchaser.

          3                 Firms that purchase for their trading

          4  account securities that are backed by subprime or

          5  prime mortgage loans can only rely on

          6  representations made by the security sponsor, or

          7  underwriter, regarding whether the underlying loans

          8  were originated in compliance with applicable law.

          9                 In conclusion, I'd just like to

         10  stress again how grateful the association member

         11  firms are for this opportunity to share their views

         12  with you on Introduction 67-A, predatory lending is

         13  a destructive practice that needs to be stopped.

         14                 It is unacceptable that certain bad

         15  actors would deliberately deceive and exploit

         16  consumers with unfair and illegal lending terms. Our

         17  members want to be part of the solution to this

         18  problem.

         19                 At the same time, it's very important

         20  that remedies designed to protect borrowers from

         21  predatory lending, do not inadvertently cut off

         22  their access to credit, especially those in the

         23  subprime sector where financing options are limited.

         24                 It is also important for remedies to

         25  effectively target and counteract the underlying
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          2  problem. As I've indicated, there are necessary

          3  limits on what underwriters, loan purchasers and

          4  other entities who are removed from the direct

          5  mortgage origination process can do after the fact

          6  to correct or cleanse deficiencies in that process.

          7                 We look forward to continuing

          8  constructive dialogue with you on this important

          9  issue, in an effort to find solutions that

         10  appropriately balance those considerations.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         13  much, Mr. Miller.

         14                 I think my colleagues have a couple

         15  of questions, and then I would encourage my

         16  colleagues to be as brief as we've encouraged the

         17  people, the panelists.

         18                 Councilman Liu.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you for

         20  your comments and for coming down this morning and

         21  afternoon.

         22                 I find it interesting that you would

         23  say that it's unconscionable and that you do believe

         24  there are originators who engage in this type of

         25  practice that's unacceptable, and, yet, the
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          2  companies who would, using your terminology,

          3  purchase these loans from the originators, or from

          4  the lenders, would never engage, would never even

          5  think of engaging in these kinds of practices; is

          6  that an assertion that you're making?

          7                 MR. MILLER: Certainly if they are

          8  predatory, abusive practices, it's certainly not

          9  something that either we as an association of any of

         10  our members would support or speak in favor of, no.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Of course not.

         12  The purchasers, would any of these purchasers know

         13  of any lenders that engage in these practices? Are

         14  there lenders out there that are reputed to engage

         15  in predatory lending?

         16                 MR. MILLER: There certainly are, and,

         17  again, predatory lending is a problem. It exists,

         18  and our members --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: With identifiable

         20  culprits?

         21                 MR. MILLER: Well, I think that is,

         22  frankly, part of the problem, is that there are

         23  institutions out there, who are making supbrime

         24  loans, who may engage in some of these practices,

         25  yet as I have indicated in my testimony, some of the
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          2  things that we would be called upon, or our members

          3  would be called upon to look for can't be determined

          4  by the type of review that our members are able to

          5  conduct, again, which is typically looking at loan

          6  files, reviewing an originator's policies for how

          7  they comply with the law. They're not sitting at the

          8  table when the interaction is occurring between a

          9  mortgage broker and a lender and a borrower, so they

         10  really cannot know whether there was duress or fraud

         11  perpetrated, whether some deceit or deception was

         12  made, and that's really the difficulty. I'm not

         13  saying that that doesn't happen, it most certainly

         14  does, and perhaps even happens among institutions

         15  that continue to have licenses and continue to exist

         16  in goodstanding in the State and City of New York.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I mean, I think

         18  that the difficulty that we have is that, the

         19  purchases seem to concede the fact that there are

         20  lenders, using your terminology, lenders that engage

         21  in this practice.

         22                 Clearly, the purchasers are also

         23  reaping some profit from the practices of these

         24  unscrupulous predatory lenders. And, yet, I guess we

         25  couldn't say any of these purchasers are engaging in
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          2  a predatory practice.

          3                 I just think that -- I think there's

          4  a very strong argument that one of the witnesses,

          5  and I don't recall which witness made this argument,

          6  that there is some cleansing going on, that you

          7  dilute the accountability of these predatory loans,

          8  and that's exactly what we're trying to combat here,

          9  we are trying to hold the entire system accountable,

         10  and when you say that it's too difficult to, or too

         11  much of a burden to place upon your members to

         12  certify in some respect, that the loans they are

         13  purchasing were not product of the predatory lending

         14  practice, I'm not exactly sure, you mention fraud,

         15  I'm looking at the bill and I'm trying to figure out

         16  which of these provisions it would be very difficult

         17  to determine that something that a lender has

         18  engaged in those practices.

         19                 I mean, which issues, or which

         20  practices are you looking at?

         21                 MR. MILLER: Certainly.

         22                 There are provisions, for example,

         23  that require a determination that the loan have a

         24  net tangible benefit to the consumer. It's a

         25  qualitative subjective interpretation of whether or
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          2  not there is such a benefit. In effect, you're

          3  looking at a loan in hindsight, and trying to

          4  determine, was that loan suitable or appropriate for

          5  a particular borrower.

          6                 There are requirements that basically

          7  require that the lender or broker cannot encourage

          8  or recommend default.

          9                 To the extent that a lender or broker

         10  is doing that, it's going to be something that's not

         11  commemorated in a loan file.

         12                 The prohibition on fraudulent and

         13  deceptive marketing or sales efforts, again, that

         14  occurs, if it occurs at all, at the point of contact

         15  in the mortgage origination process directly between

         16  the originator and the borrower, not something that

         17  our members are able to see, and that's not so much

         18  that some of these things are burdensome, and some

         19  of them would be, even things that our members could

         20  do, it's that I've indicated, some of what is

         21  required, frankly, doesn't appear to me to be

         22  possible.

         23                 If I were a lawyer advising one of my

         24  member firms on this, to the risks that can be

         25  managed and controlled, that's something to
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          2  consider, but a risk that really is not manageable

          3  or controllable, even with very extensive due

          4  diligence, I would have a very hard time, and this

          5  is a personal statement, have a very hard time

          6  recommending to a client that they sign the

          7  certification that's called for, because I would

          8  have no idea how that client could ensure that they

          9  were fulfilling its terms.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I would agree

         11  with some of the examples that you cited, in terms

         12  of difficulty or subjectivity involved. The

         13  enforcement of this bill rests with the City

         14  Comptroller, and I would imagine that if it's

         15  difficult for a lender or a purchaser of loans to

         16  monitor certain criteria, that it would be very

         17  difficult for the Comptroller to do likewise and

         18  therefore bring enforcement action on the purchasers

         19  or the lenders.

         20                 And, so, I guess what I'm trying to

         21  say is that the bill, the provisions in the bill, if

         22  it's extremely difficult for purchasers and lenders

         23  to track those practices, it's equally difficult for

         24  the Comptroller to understand what kind of

         25  subjectivity is involved in making those loans.
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          2                 There are other provisions that make

          3  it very simple for lenders, as well as purchasers of

          4  loans, to monitor and to certify.

          5                 MR. MILLER: I would certainly agree

          6  there are some provisions of the bill that are very

          7  objective and straightforward, and would be things

          8  that, again, anyone looking at that loan file would

          9  be able to tell yes or no, is this there or was this

         10  step taken or did this happen.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And there is also

         12  a little bit of flexibility in the bill in terms of

         13  not saying if a single loan in a basket or a pool of

         14  1,000 loans that's purchased by a purchaser, if a

         15  single loan is found to have been a product of

         16  predatory lending, that's not going to automatically

         17  label that purchaser a predator. There is some

         18  flexibility in this bill, and perhaps you're

         19  suggesting that there should be more flexibility,

         20  but I still don't really hear a real strong argument

         21  why we can't pass this bill or why we shouldn't pass

         22  this bill. I think this bill makes good sense, and

         23  there is room for flexibility.

         24                 Sure there are some subjective

         25  criteria that would also -- that subjectivity would
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          2  have to be dealt with by the Comptroller, who would

          3  be the enforcer of this bill anyway.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

          6  Sanders.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

          8  sir.

          9                 Thank you also, Mr. Miller. I really

         10  appreciate your coming out and putting on paper some

         11  concrete things that you believe are problematic

         12  and/or the removal or replacement or whatever that

         13  we have to do, can make this a better bill. I think

         14  that this is the spirit that we're looking for. No

         15  one in this room, no sensible person anywhere, wants

         16  to wreck the economy of New York City, especially at

         17  a time when we are in the midst of recovery, and

         18  recovery we must.

         19                 I would be remiss if I did not say

         20  that the argument around this bill has changed. At

         21  one point in the argument we were told that it's

         22  almost unneeded because there's only a handful of

         23  predatory lenders out there, and the good guys, no

         24  one was doing business basically with these people.

         25                 Then on another point I must admit
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          2  that it was hinted at that everyone is doing

          3  business and it's almost impossible to be free of

          4  these unsavory characters.

          5                 Now, I must admit I have a certain

          6  amount of faith in the banking industry, I have a

          7  certain amount of faith that I understand that they

          8  consciously would never do business with any drug

          9  dealers, child pornographers, or any of these other

         10  unsavory people. They would go to the last decimal

         11  point to avoid doing any type of business with these

         12  type of people, as it should, and I certainly

         13  complement them for that.

         14                 I just refuse to believe, that the

         15  same due diligence which can screen out some of this

         16  drug trade money, some of the horrible things cannot

         17  do without, if you wish, predatory lenders.

         18                 Now, many people have said that we

         19  need to attack the source, and I agree with you, and

         20  I assure you one thing, we are going to mount a

         21  very, very strong attack on the source, and I must

         22  concede, we're not going to spend a lot of time

         23  dialoging with them as we are dialoging with our

         24  neighbors. We do not see the industry as we see the

         25  very predators out there. We're not going to spend a
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          2  lot of time requesting from them, well, draft this

          3  approach, tell us how we can deal with this problem.

          4  We don't want them to draft how we ill attack their

          5  unsavory practices.

          6                 So, I'm glad that you have done these

          7  things, I'm just also a little quizzical if you

          8  wish, because we have criteria in the bill which can

          9  help those, the trustees, those who are investors,

         10  whoever we need to look at the sanctity, if you

         11  wish, of the loan, the cleanliness of these loans,

         12  and these criteria can trigger the alarm.

         13                 So, this is there, but I'm sure that

         14  we will have more discussion and more dialogue on

         15  this, so I won't beat a very live horse here.

         16                 MR. MILLER: I appreciate those

         17  comments very much, and I just would not want to

         18  leave you with any impression that our members and

         19  securities underwriters and loan purchasers don't do

         20  a lot when they're purchasing loans or underwriting

         21  securities. They do a great deal of diligence and,

         22  in fact, I think there are many cases where as a

         23  business matter, as an economic matter, as a matter

         24  of wishing to protect their reputations, and

         25  avoiding the "headline" risk from being associated
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          2  with predatory lenders, that deals don't get done,

          3  or deals don't get done in ways that might have been

          4  the original thought or intention behind them. It's

          5  just when you take that to the point of legislation

          6  and specifically require certain steps to be taken

          7  in every case that creates some compliance

          8  difficulties and impracticality, it's not a matter

          9  of will, it's a matter of feasibility, that's when

         10  we think we need to discuss that and I appreciate

         11  very much the sentiments of desiring to be flexible

         12  and to find a way to balance those considerations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Now, before I call

         14  on Council Member Addabbo, I just want to

         15  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member

         16  Jackson from Manhattan.

         17                 Council Member Addabbo.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair.

         20                 Mr. Miller, thank you for your time

         21  and testimony this afternoon.

         22                 I do believe that this legislation

         23  can work cooperatively with those players on the

         24  secondary market in identifying those who practice

         25  in predatory lending. And the reason I do believe
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          2  that we can work in conjunction with each other is

          3  because, I know the paperwork that transfers into

          4  the secondary market has enough information in there

          5  that the predatory lenders can be identified.

          6                 This documentation, such as the

          7  promissory note which has the rate and the terms and

          8  the application which has all the background

          9  information needed on an individual borrower, you

         10  know, income and credit, the good faith test as to

         11  truth in lending, there's enough documentation that

         12  goes along into the secondary market that the past

         13  history, or what has happened prior can be

         14  determined whether it was predatory or not, and I

         15  think that's where the City Council and the

         16  secondary market can work in conjunction, and, yes,

         17  it is a lot of work, but it is feasible and it is

         18  possible, and I think that's where we can work

         19  together.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         22                 I want to make sure, Mr. Miller, that

         23  we have had time to read over thoroughly, your

         24  comments, and, again, I think many of us appreciate

         25  that you came in with some real substantive
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          2  approaches to the specific legislation that we have

          3  introduced.

          4                 It's been said, but I think it needs

          5  to be said again, we're all working to come up with

          6  something that responds to this issue progressively,

          7  I'm not afraid of that word, and at the same time

          8  understands that the banks do have a role to play,

          9  it's a positive one, and we don't want to undermine

         10  that.

         11                 The issue, of course, and the

         12  accountability, and the problem is that in this

         13  global market, and the very fact that we've said

         14  before, that the secondary market has grown is

         15  because of the availability of capital, and the

         16  further the capital that's available is, the harder

         17  it is to have that kind of communication.

         18                 So, you know, this is one of the

         19  issues of I think many that arise in global market,

         20  how it affects people's lives.

         21                 So, I am just, you know, I have

         22  struggled with this thing now for a couple of

         23  months, and I've thought about it personally a lot

         24  off-camera, so-to-speak, and I am concerned that we

         25  never create a situation where huge independent
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          2  agencies, such as the monetary world, banks, et

          3  cetera, are put in a position where we can just say,

          4  well, we just didn't know, and we can't be held

          5  accountable.

          6                 Every one of us has to be

          7  accountable, whether it's an institution or a

          8  person, and certainly, those of us who are elected

          9  officials understand what accountability is all

         10  about - my God, the amount of scrutiny we get put

         11  through - and, so, I'm just not going to throw up my

         12  hands because everybody is so beneficent in this

         13  world of billions of dollars that they don't want to

         14  be -- I'm just supposed to take them at their word

         15  for it.

         16                 But I do thank you for this, and I

         17  want to personally extend an opportunity for you and

         18  I and our counsel to sit down and look at what might

         19  be here, and to the extent that we could do it

         20  legally, perhaps a few other colleagues could banter

         21  this about a little further.

         22                 So, again, thank you. And, you know,

         23  I was surprised when I saw your name, there was a

         24  George Miller up in Harlem, I don't know if you know

         25  that, he's in the Assembly.
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          2                 MR. MILLER: Currently there are a few

          3  George Millers and I'm not related to most of them

          4  that I've heard of, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And a George Miller

          6  who is in Congress. And there's a George Miller in

          7  Congress out in California. The one in New York I

          8  think has passed on, but I think both of them would

          9  be supportive of this bill, in their name. All

         10  right?

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MR. MILLER: Thank you.  And on behalf

         13  of my colleagues and our members, we would look

         14  forward to that continuing dialogue with you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         16                 Now, I know I've asked people to be

         17  patient, and I'm completely confused as to where I

         18  am here at the moment, so just give me a minute.

         19                 Because we asked Mr. Mar -- how do

         20  you say your name, sir?

         21                 MR. MARSICO: Marsico.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We had asked you to

         23  come back, why don't you come and testify as briefly

         24  as you can.

         25                 Would Mr. Batson have any problem
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          2  postponing?

          3                 (Speaking from the audience.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We all have to be

          5  out of here, we're all supposed to be out of here at

          6  1:00, and we really have to be out of here in a

          7  matter of minutes.

          8                 MR. BATSON: Do you want me to hand in

          9  my written remarks?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That would be

         11  terrific. And you tell the Senator he gets points

         12  from all of us. I know he's very much involved with

         13  this bill in Albany. Yes, I understand that bill.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 The Sergeant-At-Arms will take your

         16  testimony, if you have any.

         17                 There's a rep from Virginia Fields'

         18  office, and Mr. Palmer has left.

         19                 We're going to have another hearing

         20  and it's going to be before the end of the month.

         21                 Always good to see you, Mr.

         22  McLaughlin. Let the record note that you've been

         23  here.

         24                 Cudahy, yes.

         25                 Sir, state your name for the record.
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          2                 MR. MARSICO: Richard Marsico, I teach

          3  law at New York Law School. Thank you for this

          4  opportunity.

          5                 Is that on? Richard Marsico. I teach

          6  law at New York Law School.  Thank you for this

          7  opportunity to be heard, and I really appreciate, as

          8  I was reading Abraham Lincoln's quote, that this

          9  Committee is truly governing for the people, as I

         10  think is seen by this legislation. I will be very

         11  brief.

         12                 I really just wanted to point out

         13  that I have done a study of data about the subprime

         14  lending industry, and I submitted written comments,

         15  and in my written comments I present the highlights

         16  of my study, which pick up on a point that was made

         17  earlier by NEEDAP (phonetic) at the earlier

         18  testimony on April 1st, about the disproportionate

         19  presence of subprime lending in communities of color

         20  and low-income communities. And I just would like to

         21  point out there, there was additional evidence of

         22  that, that in many instances the rate of lending of

         23  subprime lending in the conventional home market is

         24  much higher.

         25                 For example, on page three of my
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          2  testimony -- I'm sorry, page four, I show percentage

          3  of conventional home mortgage loans submitted by

          4  subprime -- originated by subprime lenders, and you

          5  can see that in minority, predominantly minority

          6  neighborhoods, 13.6 percent of all conventional home

          7  mortgage loans are subprime as opposed to 2.6

          8  percent in predominantly white neighborhoods, nearly

          9  six times, in other words, the rate of subprime

         10  lending is nearly six times as high in a

         11  conventional home lending market, among -- in

         12  low-income neighborhoods 11.3 percent of all loans

         13  are by subprime lenders, as opposed to three percent

         14  in upper income neighborhoods, among minority

         15  persons 5.1 percent of all loans are submitted --

         16  are originated by subprime lenders, as compared to

         17  1.9 percent for white persons, and, finally, 5.6

         18  percent of all loans to low and moderate income

         19  persons by subprime lenders compared to 3.5 percent.

         20                 So, I just wanted to point out for

         21  the Committee and place on the record that there is

         22  a serious problem here in the City with targeting

         23  low-income people, minority people, with these loan

         24  products and that this legislation here will go a

         25  long way towards addressing that.
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          2                 It's particularly essential that this

          3  legislation be done on the local level, as well, for

          4  several reasons. The federal government has really

          5  not taken any serious action to combat predatory

          6  lending at the legislative or regulatory level, and

          7  which makes the action by the City Council all the

          8  more important, and thank you for this opportunity,

          9  and, again, I support this legislation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         11  much. And do you have a copy that you can leave for

         12  us --

         13                 MR. MARSICO: Yes, I passed them out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, we have that,

         15  and certainly want to thank you very much for your

         16  patience. I think that what we are trying to do at

         17  the local level is to be responsive, so thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 MR. MARSICO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That concludes this

         21  hearing today, and we will, as I said, be trying to

         22  schedule one for prior to the end of May, hopefully

         23  if we are going to have a third bill, but we will be

         24  wrapping this up. We are going to be voting on this

         25  bill, folks, I assure you, okay?
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          2                 Thank you all for coming. This

          3  meeting is adjourned.

          4                 (The following written testimony was

          5  read into the record.)

          6

          7  Written Testimony Of:

          8  New York Public Interest Research Group

          9

         10

         11                 The New York Public Interest Research

         12  Group (NYPIRG) is New York State's largest student

         13  directed consumer protection, environmental

         14  preservation and social justice advocacy

         15  organization. NYPIRG is headquartered on Murray

         16  Street, across from City Hall, and has eight other

         17  offices in New York City, with a total of 24 offices

         18  across New York State.

         19                 NYPIRG is pleased to have this

         20  opportunity to support the New York City Council's

         21  initiative to protect vulnerable homeowners from the

         22  predatory and abusive lending practices in the

         23  subprime mortgage lending marketplace. We applaud

         24  Speaker Miller and the other sponsors for advancing

         25  this important initiative and promptly commencing
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          2  the public debate on this issue.

          3                 Since the 1970s, NYPIRG has worked to

          4  protect New York's low- and moderate-income

          5  homeowners and communities on such issues as bank

          6  redlining and unfair real property taxation. Those

          7  efforts complement NYPIRG's work on consumer banking

          8  issues, include leading efforts in 1994 to require

          9  that banks in New York offer low cost "basic

         10  banking" checking accounts so that working people,

         11  New Yorkers on fixed incomes and students can leave

         12  the ranks of the "unbanked" and open inexpensive

         13  checking accounts.

         14                 For the past several years NYPIRG has

         15  supported comprehensive legislation to address

         16  abuses in subprime home mortgage lending. NYPIRG is

         17  on the steering committee of New Yorkers for

         18  Responsible Lending, a coalition of more than 90

         19  senior citizen, consumer, community and legal

         20  services organizations, as well as community-based

         21  lenders.

         22                 NYPIRG and the members of NYRL

         23  support comprehensive legislation in the New York

         24  State Legislature, S.5005, introduced by Senate

         25  Banking Committee Chair Hugh Farley and A.7828-A,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            170

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  introduced by Assembly Banking Committee Chair

          3  Aurelia Greene. The framework and strong protections

          4  used in these bills are adapted and incorporated

          5  into the City Council's initiative.

          6                 The thrust of this initiative is very

          7  simple: New York City will use its financial

          8  resources, tax breaks and subsidies to promote

          9  responsible mortgage lending and discourage

         10  predatory and abusive practices.

         11                 Under this proposal, those who engage

         12  in or support clearly defined predatory mortgage

         13  lending practices will not benefit from doing

         14  business with the City or through financial

         15  assistance of any type.

         16                 When adopted, this will not only

         17  deprive unworthy recipients of benefits, but it will

         18  drive the marketplace to change harmful and

         19  irresponsible conduct.

         20                 There has been an explosion in the

         21  growth of the subprime market over the past decade.

         22  From 1993 to 1998, subprime home mortgage loans

         23  increased from 104,0000 to 997,000. In 1993,

         24  subprime home mortgage lending was a $25 billion

         25  business; in 2000 subprime mortgage loans exceeded
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          2  $140 billion. Subprime lenders made less than five

          3  percent of the mortgages in 1993, but almost 13

          4  percent by 1999.

          5                 In the New York City area, subprime

          6  lending increased from 0.9 percent in 1993 to 9.8

          7  percent of the total market in 1999. For mortgage

          8  refinancings, the subprime market share grew from

          9  one percent to 20.3 percent in 1999.

         10                 Unfortunately, along with the access

         11  to capital came serious problems with the way many

         12  subprime mortgages were marketed, packaged, closed

         13  and serviced.

         14                 The problems and abuses in the

         15  subprime mortgage lending industry have been the

         16  subject of actions and comments by federal and state

         17  regulators, including Federal Reserve Board Chairman

         18  Alan Greenspan, the U.S. Department of Treasury, the

         19  U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development,

         20  the Federal Trade Commission, the Office of the

         21  Attorney General of the State of New York, and the

         22  New York State Banking Department.

         23                 The policy concerns voiced by these

         24  regulators are detailed in the experiences of the

         25  clients that housing counselors, community advocates
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          2  and legal services attorneys are seeing with

          3  increasing frequency in their offices in New York's

          4  cities, suburban and rural areas.

          5                 While no part of the state has been

          6  spared, New York City with its escalating real

          7  estate values great number of non-white homeowners

          8  has been particularly hard hit.

          9                 There are two dirty little secrets in

         10  the area of predatory lending. First, it's not just

         11  fly-by-night improvement contractors and storefront

         12  lenders who engage in abusive practices, but

         13  well-known national banks and finance companies, as

         14  well.

         15                 Second, predators are aided and

         16  abetted by Wall Street firms that "scrutinize"

         17  subprime mortgage loans and market them as

         18  "mortgage-backed securities" to investors.

         19                 Understanding the role of national

         20  banks, finance companies and Wall Street investment

         21  firms in predatory lending is critical to this

         22  issue, since they are the firms that primarily will

         23  be affected by this proposal. Some recent examples

         24  follow.

         25                 The Federal Trade Commission sued
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          2  Citigroup and its recently acquired subprime lender,

          3  The Associates last year. The FTC cited a pattern of

          4  misleading borrowers and packing loans with

          5  unnecessary and costly products. In support of the

          6  FTC's lawsuit, an affidavit of a former

          7  CitiFinancial Assistant Manager was submitted. The

          8  affidavit describes in great detail the

          9  extraordinary pressures put on bank employees to get

         10  homeowners to refinance their mortgages, including

         11  encouraging them to take their unsecured debt, such

         12  as credit card debt, and roll it into their

         13  mortgage.

         14                 More recently, the Federal Trade

         15  Commission announced that it had entered into a $60

         16  million settlement with First Alliance Mortgage

         17  Corporation. First Alliance was alleged to have

         18  deceived homeowners by concealing extremely high

         19  fees and interest rates.

         20                 While these actions help to police

         21  the market, they are no substitute for strong laws

         22  and regulations that prevent predatory and abusive

         23  conduct.

         24                 For a homeowner who has lost their

         25  home, litigation is of little comfort, even if it
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          2  brings some modest financial settlement.

          3                 Intro. 67-A can play an important

          4  role in changing market conduct. However, the

          5  current version of Intro. 67-A should be

          6  strengthened to ensure that certain anti-consumer

          7  practices are included within the definition of

          8  "predatory" under the proposal.

          9                 - include city authorities, which

         10  offer subsidies and tax abatements, in the

         11  definition of "agency" for purposes of identifying

         12  the City entities covered by the bill.

         13                 - include all balloon payments, not

         14  just those that arise before seven years after a

         15  loan's origination, in the practices that define a

         16  "predatory lender."

         17                 Predators use balloon payments to set

         18  lower monthly payments that mask the true cost of

         19  loans from borrowers.

         20                 - Define "predatory lender" to

         21  include making any high-cost loan that finances any

         22  points and fees. Lenders should make their profits

         23  through the interest they charge, not by taking

         24  money right out  of the equity the homeowner has

         25  built up in their home.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 - Tighten the standard for judging

          3  whether the review procedures that loan purchases

          4  used are reasonable. Without more, a paper review

          5  may not turn up predatory marketing and closing

          6  practices, for example.

          7                 - make it clear that upon making a

          8  finding of violations, a city agency must take some

          9  type of enforcement action - not just as may be

         10  "appropriate" - against a financial institution.

         11                 - Add "advocates and community

         12  members" to those who can file a verified complaint

         13  with the comptroller to trigger an investigation and

         14  require the comptroller to investigate each verified

         15  complaint received.

         16                 The approach taken by the City

         17  Council in Intro. 67-A has tremendous merit and

         18  should be adopted by cities and municipalities

         19  across the state and nation. Government can and

         20  should drive marketplace conduct to change business

         21  practices that are unfair, unjust and

         22  discriminatory.

         23                 Moreover, this sends a very important

         24  message to the New York State Legislature: Since you

         25  haven't addressed this problem, which is separating
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          2  New York City residents from their homes and tearing

          3  at the fabric of communities, we at the New York

          4  City Council will.

          5                 NYPIRG strongly supports this

          6  approach and urges the Consumer Affairs and

          7  Protection Committee to adopt the revisions to

          8  Intro. 67 outlined above and advance it for full

          9  consideration by the City Council.

         10

         11  Written testimony of:

         12  Gloria Waldron

         13  President, New York ACORN

         14  New York City Council Consumer Affairs Committee

         15  Hearing, May 6, 2002

         16  Intro 67- A

         17

         18                 Good Morning Chairman Reed, and

         19  fellow committee members.  My name is Gloria

         20  Waldron, President of New York ACORN. I want to

         21  begin by thanking you, Mr. Chairman, along with

         22  Council Speaker Miller and Council member Sanders

         23  and Barron and other prime cosponsors who have been

         24  so committed to protecting New York City borrowers

         25  from abusive loans.  I would also like to thank the
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          2  city council staff, including John Graham and David

          3  Szuchmann for their extraordinary work and attention

          4  to this issue.

          5

          6                 Over a month ago, at our first

          7  hearing, the Committee heard from borrowers who had

          8  suffered with predatory loans.  But you also heard

          9  arguments from the Banking Industry, the Securities

         10  Market, and two representatives from the

         11  administration- Consumer Affairs and the Office of

         12  Management & Budget about why you should not work to

         13  banish some of those abusive practices from lending

         14  in New York City.

         15

         16                 I would briefly like to respond to

         17  some of their arguments, especially in light of the

         18  most recent draft which we believes gives financial

         19  institutions a roadmap to compliance with this

         20  proposed law.

         21

         22                 I want to be clear that this is not a

         23  bill to outlaw subprime lending, it is a bill to

         24  curb the most abusive practices on high cost

         25  subprime loans.
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          2

          3                 From the New York Bankers

          4  Association, we heard the argument that if we pass

          5  this bill, subprime lenders will leave the area.

          6  The problem is that the banks only evidence here was

          7  their own threats.

          8

          9                 NYBA Example #1:  They pointed to

         10  Philadelphia. What actually happened in Philly is

         11  that the city council passed a strong antipredatory

         12  lending bill- they did not believe those lenders who

         13  made threats were credible.  In a political play,

         14  the state overrode the bill, and it never went into

         15  effect.  No evidence to cite of lenders actually

         16  leaving there.

         17

         18                 NYBA Example #2:  They pointed to

         19  Washington DC. What actually happened in DC is that

         20  the council passed a bill, the banks launched a

         21  scare campaign, threatening to leave and it was

         22  suspended before it ever went into effect.  We would

         23  in fact have agreed with the lenders that there were

         24  problems in the drafting of DC bill.  But we cannot

         25  agree that a politically motivated threat to leave-
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          2  designed to get rid of legislation they opposed- is

          3  actual evidence that credit will dry up.

          4

          5                 NYBA Example #3:  They pointed to

          6  North Carolina. The truth about North Carolina is

          7  that its very good evidence that you can pass a

          8  strong bill against predatory lending, as they did

          9  there in 2000, and continue to have a thriving

         10  market in subprime loans, which they do.  North

         11  Carolina continues to be one of the top states in

         12  the volume of subprime lending per capita.  And the

         13  Attorney Generals office, and advocates who have

         14  challenged opponents of the law to show them one

         15  good loan which cannot be made have not heard a

         16  response.

         17

         18                 ((Many lenders in North Carolina were

         19  in fact a part of the discussions that led to the

         20  law there, and supported the law when it passed.

         21  But later, when people saw that the idea was

         22  spreading to other states the tone changed.   In an

         23  effort to discredit the legislation there, some

         24  lenders trumpeted that Countrywide, a large lender,

         25  had left town.  In fact, it was only their small
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          2  affiliate- Full Spectrum= that left, having had only

          3  a very small presence in the market before.))

          4

          5                 In the end, all of these arguments

          6  sound a little to us like the arguments that child

          7  labor laws would be the death of business in

          8  America.  They are empty threats.

          9

         10                 From the Office of Management and

         11  Budget, we heard a similar refrain-

         12

         13                 If this law were passed, OMB

         14  testified that: Financial institutions would not be

         15  able to comply, and so financial institutions would

         16  choose not to do business with the City, and the

         17  City would have no one to do business with.

         18

         19                 In fact, this law will not be

         20  difficult to comply with.  What it requires is that

         21  lenders that do business with the city avoid making

         22  predatory loans.  And that secondary market players

         23  who do business with the city avoid buying them.

         24  The way they do that is similar to the way they

         25  already check into loans before they buy them.  It
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          2  is modeled on a process that is already in place.

          3  When these investment houses buy loans, they do not

          4  just take the lenders word for what the loans are

          5  like- they ask them to promise, and then they do a

          6  sample check if what they have been told is true.

          7  They look at the ratio of the loan amounts to the

          8  value of the holmes.  They ask whether the lender

          9  has followed state and federal laws and regulations.

         10

         11                 This draft, Intro 67- A asks lenders

         12  to do the same thing to make sure they are not

         13  buying predatory loans.  And the bill has a lot of

         14  steps and checks and balances before a company is

         15  deemed a predatory lender.

         16

         17                 Again, we stress how reasonable 67- A

         18  is in how it deals with financial institutions and

         19  their standing with the City. One, or two or five

         20  predatory loans will not make you a predatory

         21  lender.  You have to either make 10 predatory loans

         22  or have 5% of all you loans in a 12- month period be

         23  predatory before any process gets started.

         24

         25                 Then a lender who has been found to
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          2  make a significant number of predatory loans can

          3  keep their good standing with the city by making a

          4  plan to stop doing so.  A lender who has been found

          5  to make bad loans has a chance to right the

          6  situation. They are still not a predator as long as

          7  they present and get approval on a plan to stop

          8  predatory lending, and they have 90 days to come

          9  into compliance with their plan.

         10

         11                 For companies that invest or buy

         12  subprime loans, the new draft says in addition that

         13  as long as you have engaged in reasonable due

         14  diligence to try to prevent the purchase of

         15  predatory loans, you are not a predatory lender if

         16  that process fails.

         17

         18                 This bill does not look to punish

         19  lenders or investors.  It is about setting a

         20  standard to protect borrowers, and it is a standard

         21  that lenders can and should follow.  The bill is

         22  designed for lenders to succeed in following it.  We

         23  are looking for banks to take the high road, the

         24  road of industry leadership in putting forth a plan

         25  of compliance as laid out by this bill.  If so, they
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          2  can be blessed by the City and go about their

          3  business. Having that seal of approval would make

          4  them, in the eyes of the City, a fair lender and a

          5  responsible bank.

          6

          7                 To sum up, we urge the City Council

          8  maintain their courage and to pass legislation-

          9  including the important amendments we are proposing,

         10  which will protect New York City borrowers.

         11                 Thank you.

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony of:

         15  The Honorable Phillip Reed, Chairman

         16  Statement of The Bond Market Association before the

         17  Consumer Affairs Committee

         18  The New York City Council

         19

         20  Hearing on Introduction 67- A

         21  A local law to amend the New York City charter and

         22  the administrative code of the City of New York, in

         23  relation to prohibiting the City from doing business

         24  with institutions that engage, directly or

         25  indirectly, in predatory lending practices.
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          2

          3  May 6, 2002

          4  Submitted for the Record

          5  New York City Council Hearing on Introduction 67- A

          6

          7  1.  Introduction

          8

          9                 The Bond Market Association commends

         10  the New York City Council and you, Chairman Reed,

         11  for your leadership in holding this hearing on

         12  legislation intended to combat predatory lending.

         13  Among other things, Introduction 67- A (the Bill)

         14  would prohibit the City of New York (City) or any of

         15  its agencies from doing business with financial

         16  institutions, their affiliates or others that

         17  engage, directly or indirectly, in predatory lending

         18  practices as defined by the Bill.  The Association's

         19  membership has a prominent role in the secondary

         20  market for home mortgage loans as loan purchasers

         21  and as underwriters and dealers of mortgage- backed

         22  securities.

         23

         24                 The Association's membership also

         25  provides a wide range of financial services to the
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          2  City and other public and private clients.  Our

          3  objective is to provide the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee and the New York City Council as a whole

          5  with an overview of the impact of the proposed

          6  legislation on our membership.

          7

          8                 The Association agrees with the NYC

          9  Council that abusive, fraudulent and unconscionable

         10  lending practices have a detrimental effect on

         11  individuals and communities.  We fully support

         12  thoughtful and effective initiatives to curb such

         13  practices.

         14

         15                 The Association also appreciates the

         16  efforts of the NYC Council to revise earlier

         17  versions of the Bill to address the concerns of the

         18  secondary market and other affected constituencies.

         19  However, as drafted, the Bill would discourage the

         20  purchase and securitization of legitimate

         21  residential mortgages, particularly with respect to

         22  those loans that are not covered by Part 41 of the

         23  NYS Banking Department Regulations, yet are covered

         24  by the Bill. This would ultimately decrease the

         25  availability and increase the cost of residential
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          2  mortgage financing for New York's borrowers.

          3

          4

          5  11.  Role of Secondary Markets in Subprime Lending

          6

          7                 We know the NYC Council appreciates

          8  the distinction between abusive predatory lending

          9  and constructive lending to individuals with

         10  blemished credit histories, commonly termed

         11   "subprime".  However, we also want to take this

         12  opportunity to illustrate the critical role of the

         13  capital markets in supporting subprime lending.

         14

         15                 There is no doubt the growth in

         16  subprime lending in the 1990s was made possible by

         17  more efficient access to the capital markets through

         18  loan securitization.  Securitization is a process by

         19  which a series of securities are created whose

         20  payments are supported by cash flows generated by a

         21  of a pool of financial assets such as residential

         22  mortgages, home equity loans, student loans, credit

         23  card receivables and other promises to repay debts.

         24  The resulting securities, of which the vast majority

         25  are rated- AAA, are purchased by institutional

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            187

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  investory, pension funds and money managers around

          3  the world.  These assets -- which include the

          4  payments that borrowers are obligated to make to

          5  lenders in the form of principal and interest

          6  payments (P&I) -- are used to make payments of P&I

          7  to investors in related securities, such as

          8  mortgage- backed securities (MBS) and asset- backed

          9  securities (ABS). This process provides funding to

         10  the marketplace, including the residential mortgage

         11  lending market, thereby helping to ensure that

         12  consumers such as subprime borrowers can obtain

         13  necessary credit at efficient market levels.  The

         14  efficiencies realized by the marketplace through

         15  securitization are passed on to consumers in the

         16  form of lower interest rates and more widely

         17  available credit. Absent securitization, it would be

         18  more costly for lenders to obtain the funds

         19  necessary to extend credit or make loans to

         20  consumers.  It follows then, that the availability

         21  of consumer credit would likely decrease and the

         22  cost would likely increase.

         23

         24                 Many subprime borrowers do not

         25  satisfy the mortgagor requirements set forth in the
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          2  underwriting guidelines of the Federal Housing

          3  Administration (FHA), the Veterans Administration

          4  (VA), Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  Blemished credit,

          5  prior bankruptcies, higher debt burdens and

          6  irregular incomes all are factors that routinely

          7  result in the denial of credit to subprime

          8  applicants for home mortgage loans to be insured or

          9  guaranteed by FHA and VA or to be sold to Fannie Mae

         10  and Freddie Mac.  The private subprime lending

         11  industry has sought to fill this void by meeting the

         12  legitimate needs of the underserved subprime credit

         13  markets -- which has resulted in increased home

         14  ownership levels and reduced reliance on unsecured,

         15  higher cost lending alternatives. Without the active

         16  participation of the private capital markets,

         17  subprime borrowers struggling to obtain home

         18  mortgage financing, despite a troubled credit

         19  history will be hard- pressed to obtain such

         20  financing given that they are not otherwise able to

         21  turn to federal agencies for credit.

         22

         23  111. New York City Council Introduction 67- A

         24

         25                 The Association has been working with
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          2  the City Council to share its concerns with the Bill

          3  and we appreciate this dialogue.  We also appreciate

          4  the addition of a "safe harbor" to the Bill, as it

          5  offers our member firms a clearer path in the effort

          6  to curb predatory in a manner that is more

          7  consistent with their roles and existing business

          8  practices.  However, the current version of the Bill

          9  still contains several provisions we believe would

         10  harm the secondary market and consequently,

         11  consumers.

         12

         13                 Before discussing our specific

         14  concerns with the Bill, we wish to describe the

         15  following general concerns.

         16

         17       Enforcement of Existing Laws and Regulation

         18                 We note that the New York State

         19  Banking Department, in the summer of 2000, adopted a

         20  set of amendments to Part 41 of the state's banking

         21  regulations intended to curb predatory lending. The

         22  changes we intended to bridge any gap that might

         23  have existed between "high- cost" loans covered

         24  under federal law and those covered under current

         25  state law.  We believe the NYC Council should
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          2  consider the effectiveness of the aforementioned

          3  Part 41 amendments and perhaps postpone action until

          4  the new state regulations have had more of a chance

          5  to be judged as successful or not in preventing

          6  these abuses.

          7

          8       Examination of Existing Licensing Requirements

          9                 We believe that truly effective

         10  oversight and enforcement of permissible mortgage

         11  lending activities can only occur at the mortgage

         12  origination level.  We also believe that the

         13  circumstances under which entities that engage in

         14  predatory behavior are permitted to continue to

         15  conduct business in New York, their licenses intact,

         16  should be examined.  If these entities were not

         17  permitted to business at all, either by having their

         18  licenses revoked, or by not having licenses granted

         19  to them in the first place (for example, based upon

         20  the prior business practices and compliance history

         21  of the underlying principals), the likelihood of

         22  consumers encountering potentially predatory

         23  practices would be significantly reduced.

         24

         25       Extent of Bill's Reach
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          2                 The Association also is concerned

          3  that the Bill will only impact the business

          4  practices of those lenders, brokers and secondary

          5  market participants that conduct business with the

          6  City. Many mortgage lenders and brokers either have

          7  no dealings or do not have significant dealings with

          8  the City,  such that those parties can continue to

          9  engage in legitimate or illegitimate lending

         10  practices in New York City.  In fact, because the

         11  need for credit by subprime borrowers cannot be

         12  expected to diminish, that demand will be met by a

         13  smaller number of credit providers, many of whom

         14  would not be reached by this anti- predatory lending

         15  initiative.

         16

         17                 With respect to the inclusion of the

         18  secondary market within the Bill's reach, we further

         19  note that a significant percentage of subprime

         20  residential mortgage loans never reach the secondary

         21  market or firms that purchase and underwrite MBS.

         22  For example, in 2002, only 54.2% of subprime loans

         23  were securitized. Further, only a portion of those

         24  loans are securitized by underwriters that conduct

         25  business with the City, so an even smaller portion

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            192

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  of the overall subprime origination market would be

          3  captured by the Bill.

          4

          5       Safe Harbor Mandates Arbitrary Level of Loan

          6  Review

          7                 For firms seeking to utilize the safe

          8  harbor, the Bill includes a requirement that

          9  underwriters must conduct a loan level review on a

         10  15 percent sample of the loan pool.  (It is not

         11  clear whether the 15 percent refers to loan dollar

         12  volume or the actual number of loans.)   Standard

         13  market practice regarding loan sampling varies

         14  according to factors such as the relationship with

         15  the lender, previous transactions with that lender,

         16  the lender's origination experience, the lender's

         17  financial capacity and the size of the loan pool.

         18  Requiring review on a sample at the arbitrary level

         19  of 15 percent could increase underwriter costs

         20  significantly without providing any more assurance

         21  the loans contained in the pool were not made using

         22  predatory tactics.

         23

         24                 To the extent securities underwriters

         25  review collateral in connection with
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          2  securitizations, they do so to satisfy their

          3  obligations to investory under applicable securities

          4  laws.  Longstanding and well- established capital

          5  markets practices do not require underwriters to

          6  conduct what would amount to loan level origination

          7  reviews, much less with the level of statistical

          8  confidence that is implicitly called for here.  Such

          9  a level of scrutiny is not necessary to protect

         10  securities holders or to give comfort to an

         11  underwriter that it has satisfied its legal

         12  responsibilities under the securities laws or to

         13  protect against predatory lending.  We believe the

         14  market practice, which has developed over time,

         15  based on experience and commercial judgments, should

         16  be the appropriate measure, rather than the 15%

         17  requirement currently set forth.

         18

         19                 Finally, the safe harbor does not

         20  address what an underwriter should do if it

         21  identifies loans that meet the prohibited criteria.

         22  Consistent with existing industry practices, we

         23  would recommend that underwriters determine whether

         24  individual loans should be removed from the pools

         25  based upon the facts and circumstances of the deal.
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          2  Another critical issue is whether the underwriter

          3  would be protected by the safe harbor if such loans

          4  were identified after a pool has been securitized.

          5  These are just a few of the questions this provision

          6  raises.

          7

          8       Due Process on Government Debarment

          9                 We are concerned that the remedies

         10  section contained in the Bill lacks basic notions of

         11  fairness and due process.  Under the Bill, either

         12  the Comptroller or any City agency may "determine"

         13  that a financial institution is a predatory lender,

         14  which would result in the ineligibility of that

         15  financial institution to participate in City

         16  business.  Unlike a typical government debarment or

         17  other agency enforcement proceeding, the Bill does

         18  not provide any procedural safeguards for this

         19  agency determination. For example, a financial

         20  institution is not entitled under the Bill to a

         21  written notice of the allegations, or the

         22  opportunity to respond to the allegations, or a

         23  right to a fair hearing on the record pursuant to

         24  customary procedural rules to find facts or reach

         25  conclusions of law.  The right to appeal the
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          2  determination is also not provided.  It is essential

          3  that an agency's determination of whether one is a

          4   "predatory lender" be conducted with

          5  constitutionally required procedural safeguards.

          6

          7       Reconsidering the Definition of Lender under

          8  67- A

          9                 We recommend that the definition of

         10  Lender be divided into two separate definitions.  A

         11   "Lender" would be limited to a person who extends

         12  one or more subprime loans.  A separate definition

         13  of "Purchaser" would be established to include one

         14  who purchases, finances on a wholesale basis, or

         15  invests in, or arranges for the purchase of or

         16  investment in, subprime loans. We would delete the

         17   "indirect" qualifier because reasonable people

         18  could not determine in advance what that means.

         19

         20                 Underling this change is our desire

         21  to distinguish between persons who engage in

         22  predatory lending and those that merely purchase or

         23  securitize loans that are subsequently determined to

         24  have predatory characteristics.  Al of the

         25  enumerated characteristics of a predatory loan occur
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          2  at the loan origination level.  We believe that

          3  responsibility nonetheless inputed to the capital

          4  markets would be limited to facts and circumstances

          5  of which the capital markets know and control or are

          6  reasonably capable of knowing and controlling with

          7  the exercise of reasonable investigation.

          8  Origination activities related to marketing and

          9  sales, decisions to extend credit and the lender's

         10  compliance with other laws do not fit this standard;

         11  such activities rely on either unknowable facts,

         12  subjective judgments or unreachable legal

         13  conclusions.

         14

         15                 Predatory Loan Terms should be

         16  clearly defined using objective criteria.  The

         17  definition should consist of those enumerated

         18  predatory characteristics that are objective and

         19  directly relate to the explicit terms of a subprime

         20  loan.  A Purchaser would not be subject to the

         21  Bill's sanctions if it has adopted reasonable

         22  procedures consistent with industry practice that

         23  were reasonably anticipated to prevent the Purchaser

         24  from engaging in a pattern and practice of

         25  purchasing subprime loans with Predatory Loan Terms.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            197

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2

          3       Exclude ABS/MBS Trading Activity from

          4  Definition of Lender

          5                 We would also exclude ABS and MBS

          6  traders from the definition of Lender.  Firms that

          7  purchase for their trading account securities backed

          8  by subprime loans can only rely on the

          9  representations made by the securities' sponsor and

         10  underwriter.

         11

         12            They should not be held accountable for

         13  the actions of third parties they are not aware of

         14  and cannot control.  Also, such traders are not

         15  entitled to access information about individual

         16  loans, and having such access would raise serious

         17  securities laws questions regarding whether any of

         18  the trades were made with material, non- public

         19  information to which their counterparties would not

         20  have access.

         21

         22                 It is unfair to subject firms that

         23  purchase these securities to the sanctions and

         24  restrictions of the legislation as drafted.  Placing

         25  these firms in such regulatory jeopardy for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            198

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  violations of which they can have no knowledge or

          3  control would lead them to stop trading in these

          4  securities.  The result would be a loss of liquidity

          5  and efficiency in the market that would ultimately

          6  translate to higher subprime borrowing costs.

          7

          8       Subjectivity in Determining Predatory Loans

          9                 The Bill's provisions will not allow

         10  for the objective determination of which loans are

         11  (or are not) predatory. One cannot determine with

         12  any degree of certainty whether a loan is a

         13   "Predatory Loan."  Under the Bill, a "Predatory

         14  Loan" first must be a "high cost loan," which in

         15  turn depends on the definition of "total points and

         16  fees," which in turn depends on the definition of

         17   "bona fide discount points."  These definitions do

         18  not rely on objective tests that allow for easy,

         19  risk free determinations. Even if one was to analyze

         20  each loan in advance of [purchase, one could not

         21  know for certain whether the loan is a "high cost

         22  loan."

         23

         24                 The Bill also does not establish with

         25  any certainty the criteria for determining whether
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          2  either a loan provides a "net tangible benefit" to

          3  the borrower or the borrower can afford the loan

          4  from the borrower's perspective.  While it does

          5  state with specificity certain loan terms deemed to

          6  be detrimental to high risk borrowers, the Bill also

          7  would require that the lender and loan purchaser

          8  make a series of subjective determinations, leaving

          9  them with the risk that someone with the benefit of

         10  hindsight will question the wisdom of the ultimate

         11  lending decision.

         12

         13                 Capital markets participants have no

         14  unique insights in determining whether a consumer

         15  should seek a home loan, or what the terms and

         16  conditions of such a loan should be.  Historically,

         17  the private and public residential lending

         18  industries have each approached the establishment

         19  and application of underwriting standards from a

         20  risk of loss perspective.  They evaluate the

         21  likelihood that a loan will go into a default and,

         22  if so, the related risk of a loss.  Under the Bill,

         23  rather than focus on the likelihood of default and

         24  loss, lenders are asked to make subjective

         25  determinations of a particular borrower's needs.
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          2  Even expanded due diligence would not enable a loan

          3  purchase to know in advance if a particular loan

          4  were predatory.

          5

          6                 The Bill incorporates violations of

          7  certain other laws in determining which "high cost

          8  loans" are also "predatory loans."  Yet the

          9  provisions of these other laws that explicitly are

         10  incorporated into the Bill themselves often require

         11  subjective analysis and interpretation in order to

         12  determine compliance.  For example, lawyers have

         13  made careers in court trying to figure out the

         14  meaning of the anti- kickback provisions of the Real

         15  Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA); yet this

         16  law, which has its own extensive enforcement and

         17  penalty provisions, is incorporated into the

         18  definition of a "Predatory Loan."

         19

         20                 Without purporting to identify all

         21  such instances, several other key definitions would

         22  require secondary market participants to make highly

         23  subjective determination.  For example:

         24

         25        "Points and Fees" are defined as including
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          2   "(a)11 compensation paid directly or indirectly to

          3  a mortgage broker."   Again, what might constitute

          4  an indirect payment to a mortgage broker is not

          5  defined.  In fact, this concept currently is the

          6  subject of extensive litigation in many

          7  jurisdictions.  There also is a more general

          8  prohibition against points and fees being financed

          9   "directly or indirectly."  Again, what might

         10  constitute an indirect financing of points and fees

         11  is unclear.  Moreover, the "points and fees" test is

         12  dependent on "bona fide discount points," which

         13  relies on a factual determination of a bona fide

         14  reduction of the interest rate to the borrower.

         15

         16       The Bill also provides that "a lender or

         17  mortgage broker shall not recommend or encourage

         18  default on an existing loan or other debt prior to

         19  and in connection with the closing or planned

         20  closing of a high- cost home loan that refinances

         21  all or any portion of such existing loan or debt".

         22  A secondary market participant could not examine a

         23  loan file and determine with any certainty that the

         24  related lender or mortgage broker did not make such

         25  recommendations in its conversations or other
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          2  interactions with the borrower.  It is unlikely this

          3  would be evident from an examination of the loan

          4  documents.

          5

          6       The Bill incudes within its definition of

          7   "predatory lender" anyone who engaged in fraudulent

          8  or deceptive marketing or sales efforts in respect

          9  of high- cost home loans.  There is virtually no way

         10  an assignee could know if any such activities had

         11  occurred.

         12

         13                 The fundamental concern with criteria

         14  such as the ones noted above is that secondary

         15  market participants would be forced to make

         16  determinations for which there are no clear answers.

         17  Making such subjective and qualitative judgments

         18  creates significant uncertainty, which translates

         19  into increased potential liability.

         20                 Of course, virtually all laws contain

         21  ambiguities that may not be resolved until

         22  subsequent litigation ensues and private parties

         23  routinely make reasoned judgments as to what

         24  constitutes compliance.

         25                 In this case, however, a purchaser
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          2  who may have absolutely no connection with the

          3  transaction in question is ultimately charged with

          4  the responsibility of the judgments of others,

          5  irrespective of whether it knew what those judgments

          6  were or whether it would have agreed with them.

          7

          8       Clarify the Applicability of the Law

          9                 We request that the Bill be revised

         10  to clarify that its provisions apply only to loans

         11  made after the Bill's effective date.  While we

         12  believe this concept is implicit in the Bill's

         13  provisions, we want to make sure that the purchase

         14  or securitization of subprime loans after the date

         15  of the Bill's enactment of subprime loans made

         16  before the such date is not subject to the Bill's

         17  provisions.

         18

         19       Revise the Treatment of Affiliates

         20                 We believe the treatment of a

         21  financial institution's should be revised.

         22  Irrespective of knowledge of or participation in a

         23  Predatory Loan, an affiliate of a financial

         24  institution is at risk of being declared ineligible

         25  for City business.
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          2                 First, we disagree with the idea that

          3  an affiliate could be labeled as a Predatory Lender

          4  when it may have absolutely no involvement with the

          5  loans giving rise to the characterization.

          6                 Such a label could have material

          7  adverse consequences in that affiliate's other line

          8  of business, impacting its regulatory licenses with

          9  government agencies and its business relationships

         10  with parties with which it contracts.

         11                 With respect to remedies, we do not

         12  thing sanctions should be imposed on affiliates that

         13  had no knowledge of or participation in the

         14  activities giving rise to the claim.

         15                 We also think the City may materially

         16  hurt its own interests by disqualifying highly

         17  competent service providers that did nothing wrong.

         18  The consequence could very well be that the City is

         19  left with a significantly smaller pool of potential

         20  service providers, including debt underwriters.

         21                 Moreover, the Bill appears to provide

         22  little flexibility in the imposition of sanctions.

         23  The law does not distinguish between knowing or

         24  material violations from unintentional or immaterial

         25  violations.
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          2                 In determining which administrative

          3  sanctions, if any, are appropriate, the Bill does

          4  not appear to permit the exercise of discretion

          5  based on such factors as the seriousness, frequency

          6  and extent of violations; the degree of financial

          7  institutions responsibility for the occurrences; the

          8  degree of separateness between the financial

          9  institution doing business with the City and the

         10  affiliate found to be a predatory lender; the good

         11  faith efforts of the financial institution to comply

         12  with the Bill; the interests of the City; and any

         13  other mitigating factors.

         14

         15                 The interests of the City are not

         16  best served by treating the isolated, immaterial,

         17  unintentional violations of a distant loan purchaser

         18  or underwriter affiliate of a financial institution

         19  in the same way as it would a lender who knowingly

         20  engaged in a pattern and practice of material

         21  violations.

         22                 We believe the Council needs to bring

         23  a sense of proportionality to the process to make

         24  sure the punishment fits the crime.

         25                 This view is particularly important
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          2  where, as here, the crime could be merely the

          3  innocent purchase of loans inappropriately made by

          4  others.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:55 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 6th day of May 2002.

         20
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         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            208

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand
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         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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